

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Customer Satisfaction in Senegal Telecom Expansion

Tafsir Alassane Ndiaye Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Tafsir Alassane Ndiaye

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Lionel De Souza, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Janet Booker, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Judith Blando, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Customer Satisfaction in Senegal Telecom Expansion

by

Tafsir Alassane Ndiaye

MBA, Grantham University, 2010 BS, Institut Supérieur de Management, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2022

Abstract

Ineffective customer acquisition and retention strategies can negatively impact performance and business sustainability. Telecom managers who lack effective strategies to retain customers, acquire new clients, and ensure sustained business performance, may experience a decline in market share. Grounded in the customer retention management theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies successful telecom marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain customers, acquire new clients, and ensure sustained business performance. The participants were three marketing managers of major telecom firms in Western Senegal with at least 3 years of experience successfully managing customer service departments. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and secondary sources from organizational and government websites. The logical and sequential process for the data analysis was based on O'Connor and Gibson's five-step process. The three major themes identified were the importance of data, adaptive marketing as a customer retention technique, and promotional campaign strategies to increase market share. The recommendations include using the customer relationship management balanced scorecard and providing training to the team to increase customer acquisition and retention. The implications for positive social change include the potential to increase company revenues, job security for employees, and employment opportunities in Senegal, thereby leading to increased prosperity in the community.

Customer Satisfaction in Senegal Telecom Expansion

by

Tafsir Alassane Ndiaye

MBA, Grantham University, 2010 BS, Institut Supérieur de Management, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this work to my heavenly mother Aissatou NDione and my father El Hadj Amadou Ndiaye, who set me up for success and who instilled in me a sense of honor and integrity. To my older brother El Hadj Moustapha Ndiaye, who put every possible effort into my academic success, and my sister Ndeye Khady Ndiaye, who continually plays the role of a mother. Specially dedicated to my wife Madeleine Sophie Gaye who spent many nights of solitude while I was up late to finish a paper, or she stayed alone some weekends while I went to my office to finish and submit a research paper. Special dedication to my champ Moustapha Al Rasheed Ndiaye the joy of my life, the torchbearer; my source of strength, support, and inspiration.

To my nephews Ibrahima Sarr (may his soul rest in peace) and Papa Ousmane Sarr who were like twin brothers to me. To my nephew Papa Massaer Ndiaye Navy vet. To my brother Moussa Ndiaye Libasse of Derkle, to my sister Ramatoulaye Ndiaye Bernice. To my sister-in-law Ndeye Fatou Niang who contributed to my well-being during my high school days.

Acknowledgments

Many thanks to my committee chair Dr. Lionel S. de Souza who has tirelessly provided me with the right direction and guidance throughout this study. To my second chair Dr. Janet Booker for her encouraging words. Special thanks to my brother Usman Yaru from Dublin, Ireland; he's been a constant source of encouragement and help. At times I would want to just throw everything away and stop, but he was there with the right words to keep me going. Thank you very much brother Usman. To a nephew of mine that I discovered recently and who contributed to this work in his own way, Karfa B. Tine. To my younger brother Latyr Diack for his support in the process. To my friend and brother Ousmane Gning for his continued support and prayers. My colleague and friend Kim Walton from BLM Battle Mountain, NV who "ordered" me to finish the DBA program.

I cannot finish without thanking Mr. Leslie A. Davis Sr. my enrollment advisor when I started this program After many back-and-forth emails, he wrote me the below words and we laughed about it. These few words were enough to set me up for success: "Welcome and much success… The next time I want to hear from you is when you graduate." Great leadership motivation that I never forgot.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesv
List of Figures
Section 1: Foundation of the Study
Background of the Problem
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question4
Interview Questions4
Conceptual Framework5
Operational Definitions7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations
Assumptions
Limitations 8
Delimitations
Significance of the Study9
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature10
Application to the Applied Business Problem
Building Customer Loyalty Through CRM14

Service Quality	15
Service Failure	21
Customer Satisfaction	24
Customer Retention	28
Promotional Strategies	34
Customer Loyalty	43
Conclusion	46
Transition	47
Section 2: The Project	49
Purpose Statement	49
Role of the Researcher	49
Participants	51
Research Method and Design	53
Research Method	53
Research Design	54
Population and Sampling	56
Ethical Research	57
Data Collection Instruments	59
Data Collection Technique	62
Data Organization Technique	67
Data Analysis	68
Step 1: Organizing the Data	70

Step 2: Finding and Organizing Ideas and Concepts	71
Step 3: Building Over-arching Themes in the Data	72
Step 4: Ensuring Reliability and Validity in the Data Analysis and in the	
Findings	72
Step 5: Finding Possible and Plausible Explanations of the Findings	73
Reliability and Validity	73
Reliability	74
Validity	75
Transition and Summary	77
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	79
Introduction	79
Presentation of the Findings	80
Theme 1: Importance of Data	81
Theme 2: Adaptive Marketing as Customer Retention Technique	84
Theme 3: Promotional Campaign Strategies to Increase Market Share	87
Applications to Professional Practice	93
Implications for Social Change	96
Recommendations for Action	97
Recommendations for Further Research	98
Reflections	101
Conclusion	102
References	104

Appendix: Ca	ase Study Protocol		47
--------------	--------------------	--	----

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Sources Count	12
Table 2. Importance of Data	82
Table 3. Adaptive Marketing as Customer Retention Technique	85
Table 4. Promotional Campaign Strategies to Increase Market Share	88

List of Figures

Figure 1. Word Cloud Density	. 81
Figure 2. Word Cloud Density of Importance of Data	. 84
Figure 3. Word Cloud Density of Adaptive Offering on Customer Retention	. 87
Figure 4. Word Cloud Density of Effect of Promotion Campaigns to Increase Market	
Share	. 93

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Different factors have contributed to a dynamic and highly competitive market in the Western Senegal telecom sector. The steady increase of the population as a direct consequence of rural exodus, the 2007 new government regulations of the telecommunication industry that favor investments, and new competitors, are all factors that make retaining customers and acquiring new clients in the Western Senegal telecommunication market more challenging than before. The different business development programs that telecom firm leaders implement to generate profits are necessary to ensure business sustainability. Retaining customers and acquiring new clients constitute important components of companies' main strategy to stay in business. In this study, I explored the different strategies from the experience of telecom managers as well as the literature to understand the diverse aspects of customer acquisition and retention.

Background of the Problem

The telecommunication industry in sub-Saharan Africa has an estimated coverage rate of 38% and is projected to cover 87% of the market by 2025 (GSM Association, 2019). With a steady increase of the compound annual growth rate of 6%, the constant increase of mobile phone users represents a revenue growth opportunity for the telecommunication industry. But a company's sustainability and success are correlated to the business leaders' ability to retain customers and acquire new clients (Yeboah-Asiamah et al., 2018). In competitive growing market environments, telecommunication marketing managers will try to acquire and retain as many customers as possible through

customer brand loyalty initiatives (Lyall & Kumar, 2018). In Western Senegal, telecom customer retention and acquisition strategies are mainly focused on offering promotional services, such as discounts, rebates, bundles, and other innovative approaches. Despite investing in promotional products, the market share of some telecom companies has steadily declined. In this research study, I explored the strategies and techniques that successful mobile telecom marketing managers in Senegal have used to retain existing customers and acquire new clients to increase market share.

Problem Statement

In Senegal, the telecommunication sector is the third largest contributor to job creation which employs 3,456 permanent staff and 1,944 temp workers (Agency for the Regulation of Telecommunications and Posts, 2020). However, despite sub-Saharan Africa having a compound annual growth rate of 4.6% and 167 million new subscribers (GSM Association, 2019), companies in Senegal continue to show a declining trend (Agency for the Regulation of Telecommunications and Posts, 2018). The general business problem is that telecommunication service providers in Senegal offer different attractive incentives to customers, but the market share of some companies is not increasing. The specific business problem is that some telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal lack effective strategies to retain customers, acquire new clients, and ensure sustained business performance.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers use to retain customers, acquire new clients, and

ensure a sustained increase in business and market share. The target population consisted of three marketing managers of major telecommunication companies in Western Senegal who held at least 3 years of experience in successfully managing customer service departments. The findings of this study may contribute to social change by providing information that leads to an increase in company market share and revenues. The ensuing gains and prosperity may manifest in an increased contribution to the local community. The study results and knowledge may also contribute to the community welfare, especially in tandem with a corporate social responsibility policy.

Nature of the Study

Research methods include qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-method.

Qualitative research is an appropriate approach to studying a wide range of customer behaviors (Mohajan, 2018). With the qualitative method, the researcher can use interviews to have a better understanding and explanation of the subject (Levitt et al., 2017). Some researchers use the inductive nature of qualitative research to explore and interpret the significance of a specific context (Levitt et al., 2017). Qualitative research was appropriate to acquire the depth insight into exploring the techniques and strategies that telecom managers use to retain and grow customer base. Quantitative research was not suitable for this research study because it is based on numerical data (Rahman, 2017). Mixed-method is a combination of qualitative and quantitative and is often time-consuming (Mckim, 2017). The time required to conduct a data analysis, data synthesis, and data interpretation in a mixed-method study (Shorten & Smith, 2017) did not fit the intent of this research study.

A case study design was the most pertinent for this study among the different qualitative study designs. With a case study, a researcher can define and clarify the existing case from the perspective of the sample population studied and the insight they may provide from personal experiences (Mohajan, 2018). Grounded theory was not appropriate for this study because in using ground theory researchers usually develop new conceptual theories from data collected (Birks et al., 2019), and the purpose of this study was not an attempt to develop a theory. Ethnographic research was also not suitable because the objective of this study was not to discover the rationale behind common behavioral patterns (see Birks et al., 2019). A narrative or phenomenological design in which information is collected through interviews or observation was not suitable for the research, because the two approaches are more of storytelling of social events and the interpretation of immediate experiences (Manen, 2017a).

Research Question

What strategies do mobile telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain and acquire new customers?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to retain existing customers?
- 2. How do you identify your potential customers?
- 3. What strategies have you used to implement a successful promotional campaign?
- 4. What issues have you experienced when implementing marketing and promotional campaigns?

- 5. How do you address the issues encountered in the course of implementing of marketing strategy?
- 6. What strategies have you used to get feedback from customers once the promotional campaign is over?
- 7. How do you relate customer feedback to the success of the promotional campaign?
- 8. How do promotional campaign outcomes impact the performance and profitability of your company?
- 9. What techniques do you use to identify adequate promotional campaign tools?
- 10. How do your promotional campaigns influence customer satisfaction and retention in your company?
- 11. How do promotional campaigns and customer perceptions increase your company's market share?
- 12. What else can you add regarding your company's strategies to promote its products which we have not discussed?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework delineating this qualitative case study was the customer retention management theory initially postulated by Dawkins and Reichheld (1990), who contended that a surge in customer retention rate directly translates into an increase in customer value. Extending the customer retention management theory, Ahmad and Buttle (2001) asserted that leaders of the traditional marketing era placed more focus on acquiring new customers to increase market share; hence, those leaders

may have possibly missed the benefits of retaining customers. Along with service quality, customer retention is considered the main profit generator for businesses (Hossain et al., 2017). The ultimate strategy of company leaders could be to find the most optimal approach to satisfy and retain customers who contribute to the organization's profit and sustainability (Deshpande & Deshmukh, 2017). Company leaders might consider customer retention as a direct result of customer satisfaction and a possible outcome of an increase in sponsorship (Okonkwo et al., 2020).

The customer retention management framework aided in the exploration and interpretation of the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain and acquire new customers. Telecom managers can increase favorable customer perceptions of service quality by providing improved and reliable service because it is an important determinant of customer loyalty (Izogo, 2017). The intense competition in the telecom industry, along with demanding customers, creates a dynamic mobile service environment and customer retention problem (Deshpande & Deshmukh, 2017). To stay competitive, marketing department managers must constantly monitor blogs and social media to collect customers' impressions and needs (Deshpande & Deshmukh, 2017). The findings of the monitoring of social media usually trigger the necessity for an in-depth study to better understand the commonality of perceived expectations of different telecommunication customers and the behavioral choices for telecom services.

Operational Definitions

Customer churn: The customer's decision to change service provider as a result of dissatisfaction from a current provider or simply to opt for a service deemed cheaper or of better quality (Under et al., 2020).

Customer effort score (CES): A measure of customer repurchase intention based on experience from the company's promptness to address clients problems (de Haal et al., 2015).

Customer retention rate: The number of customers lost over a period of time and is calculated by the percentage of lost customers against existing customers over a quarterly or annual period, without adding new customer acquisition (Deshpande & Deshmukh, 2017).

Net promoter score (NPS): A measurement tool used by company leaders to gauge loyal customers' level of satisfaction taking into account areas of best performance as well as areas of lower performance (Fisher & Kordupleski, 2019).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are widely accepted theoretical, unverified ideas with perhaps based on no solid foundation but are useful for research (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The first assumption was that participants would offer detailed and clear information in response to the interview questions. The second assumption was that the use of a semistructured interview could get participants to provide honest and bias-free responses that could eliminate any potential lack of data accuracy. The third assumption was that

participants would share the mistakes that lead to an unsuccessful customer retention campaign.

Limitations

Limitations are uncontrolled situations or set boundaries to the scope of the study that can adversely affect the validity or generalizability of the study findings (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). This study was about exploring the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to formulate and implement business development and marketing strategies to ensure customer acquisition and retention. The limitations of the study were related to the COVID-19 pandemic that required remote interviews, which limited direct observations and opportunities only available in live interviews. The profile of managers to interview was also a limitation to the possibility of accessing valuable information available with personnel who did not fit the profile of the target population description.

Delimitations

Delimitations are intentional, exclusive, and inclusive decisions made by the researcher to set boundaries during the initial preparation phase of the research; delimitations are the result of the researcher's specific choices and controls (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The study was delimited to include only promotional campaign activities conducted during a specific fiscal year. Telecommunication firms propose different product and service offerings; the study was delimited to the customers of a specific service. The study was thus delimited by (a) the research topic, (b) the intended

location of the study, (c) the nature of products offered, and (d) the number of managers to interview.

Significance of the Study

The study findings may be valuable to a business in the sense that customer acquisition and retention contribute to financial gain for service providers. Customer retention is the foundation of sustainable competitive advantage and profitability, a strategy used by firm leaders to protect market share from the competition (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). Firm leaders use customer retention techniques to avoid a decrease in market share as a consequence of customer churn (Ascarza et al., 2018). Customer retention is a result of customer satisfaction and loyalty (Singh, 2019). Satisfied customers may become loyal customers who commit to a repeated purchase, which contributes to an increase in the revenues of a firm (Diaz, 2017).

Contribution to Business Practice

Telecommunication providers could adopt the findings of this study to create quality products and service offerings as well as develop successful marketing strategies for better customer satisfaction. Improving service quality may lead to customer satisfaction, customer retention, and a contribution to organization success (Al-Hashedi & Abkar, 2017). The recommendations from the study findings may aid telecommunication managers with the knowledge to improve service quality in the continuous quest to increase customer satisfaction and loyalty. Among the different factors that influence customer satisfaction, reliable network connectivity is often most associated with service quality (Munyanti & Masrom, 2018). The findings of this study

may provide information that can be used to increase customer satisfaction as telecom leaders endeavor to the challenges of maintaining reliable network connectivity.

Implications for Social Change

The findings of this study may be used to improve targeted and lasting solutions to meet customer satisfaction, which could result in the Senegalese telecommunication subscribers receiving improved quality services. The findings may also lead to improved revenue and economic prosperity, making positive contributions to society and the community. Improved strategies may also translate into better customer care, or enhanced loyalty programs, leading to significant customer satisfaction and retention.

Further, the telecommunication service industry is the third largest contributor to job creation in Senegal and considerably contributes to the national gross domestic product (Agency for the Regulation of Telecommunications and Posts, 2018). Growth in companies' activities and revenues means an increase in the employment rate for the benefit of the community. Revenue growth also means more taxes to pay to the government, which can be used to improve the community. Different small business owners who are suppliers or retailers could also benefit from the expansion of telecom service providers' activities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Customer retention is usually considered to be at the center of the telecommunication industry; firms stay competitive through suitable acquisition and retention strategies and churn prevention (Izogo, 2017). The customer retention management framework was the underlying theory that represented the conceptual

framework. In this literature review, the different strategies and techniques of customer retention and acquisition, as well as product promotion, are discussed. This section of the study also consists of an analysis of literature about the concept of promotional strategies. Promotional strategy is considered central to the understanding of the dynamic of customer acquisition and retention (Yahya et al., 2019).

The search terms used to generate the topics necessary to conduct this literature review were service quality, customer perceived value, customer relationship management, customer loyalty, service failure, customer retention, and customer satisfaction. To conduct a further analytical discussion, this literature review included documents such as the firm's internal standard operating procedures regarding customer acquisition and retention as well as promotional products, and peer-reviewed scholarly journal articles verified through Ulrich's Periodicals Directory (57th edition). The following online databases were also explored for this review: Academic Search tools, ProQuest, Science Direct, Emerald Management Journals, and Sage Journals. In a few online peer-review journals, the automatic notification system was prompted to send personal email alerts when new relevant articles were published on the website. Books related to methodologies and management theories, enterprise promotion programs, and materials about entrepreneurial characteristics were also used. The aim was to stay compliant with the institutions' research study rubric and requirement, where at least 85% of the references should be from peer-reviewed sources and published within the last 5 years. Table 1 is a count of the references used in this research study.

Table 1

Literature Review Sources Count

				% peer
	2017	2016	Total	reviewed of
	&	&	for	total
	Later	earlier	source	documents
Peer-reviewed journals	227	19	246	
Government publications	2	1	3	
Total peer-reviewed or government	229	20	249	91.2%
Other journals	3	0	3	
Books	15	3	18	
Total other documents	3	0	3	
Total sourced documents	250	23	273	100%
% sources less than 5 years old in 2021	91.6%	8.4%	100%	

Application to the Applied Business Problem

The objective of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain clients and grow their customer base. The customer retention management framework was used to address the central research question of this study. Though managing customer retention constitutes a challenge to companies' executives, customer relationship management (CRM) leaders, as well as academics, have long agreed on its crucial impact on business success (Ascarza et al., 2018). Customer retention influences a company's financial status in different ways (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). An increase of 1% in customer retention rate is estimated to produce a company benefit growth of 5% (Moenardy et al., 2016). In addition, 20% of the company's current customers will generate 80% of the company's future revenue (Hwang, 2016). Thus, companies will make more profit by retaining customers than by acquiring new customers (Lemmens & Gupta, 2020). To develop a

sustainable business, firm leaders can create a CRM program to build a loyal customer base from product differentiation, which would likely increase customer value (Mohanty & Das, 2017). To be successful, company leaders also need to recognize the importance of differentiation to separate firm products and services from the comparable offerings to customers (Eggert et al., 2018). With sustainability in mind, company leaders undertake the challenging task of balancing policy, human resources, and technology to achieve the goal of retaining and acquiring new customers (Ascarza et al., 2018).

Ensuring business growth and sustainable business success are the main challenges that leaders of the telecom sectors contend with and strive to solve regularly (Johnson et al., 2017). Leaders of the telecom industry in Western Senegal could use this study's findings about customer retention and acquisition to develop better strategies in the same subject. The last 20 years preceding 2021 have seen significant population growth in Western Senegal, which has been an opportunity for new telecom service providers to consent important investments to meet customer expectations. The market and level of competition have been so dynamic that different investors have not stayed active long enough and some firms were simply absorbed through mergers or acquisitions by bigger companies. In such a competitive growing market environment, customer loyalty is essential to sustain competitive advantage and develop a customer base (Saleky et al., 2018). Leaders of new companies tend to spend tremendous amounts of money in the telecommunication market of Western Senegal. The leaders devote extensive investment in the promotion of products and services than in infrastructures to support claims of reliability of service.

Building Customer Loyalty Through CRM

Loyal customers are consumers who repeatedly purchase the service of a company despite attractive offers from other companies (Abu-Alhaija et al., 2019). Scholars have proposed different strategies to improve customer satisfaction and loyalty. For instance, customers are more likely to remain loyal when pleased with the attitude of the service provider employees (Girard et al., 2017). Employee—customer relationship is an important mechanism to increase customer loyalty and retention for customer satisfaction and company competitiveness. Understanding the growing importance of customer relationships to better serve customers, several company leaders have implemented CRM (Kalani et al., 2018). CRM is a tool for business leaders to classify, manage, and retain valuable customers as well as increase buying habits (Das et al., 2018; Upendar & Kumar, 2019). Personalized service offerings may therefore increase customer loyalty through creating a long-term relationship (Mohanty & Das, 2017; Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). Satisfaction is the main driver of customer loyalty (Chuah et al., 2017). An appropriate CRM program can lead to improved customer satisfaction and ultimately an increase in the customer retention rate (Fouad & A-Goblan, 2017; Boerman et al., 2017). A positive company—customer relationship sustains customer satisfaction and motivates customer repurchase intention and choice behavior (Bagozzi et al., 2017; Iglesias et al., 2018). When front line personnel maintains a positive relationship with customers, business leaders could reach the company objective of meeting customer satisfaction and create a loyal customer base.

Service Quality

Service quality reflects customers perceived company superiority (Delima et al., 2019) and is the difference between customer expectations and what was delivered (Hadi et al., 2019; Sarkhel & Osman, 2020). Along with customer satisfaction, service quality constitutes an important determinant for company competitiveness and growth (Palladan & Palladan, 2018). Service quality is the main cause of customer satisfaction and loyalty (Al-Hashedi & Abkar, 2017; Bhattacharjee et al., 2018; Diaz, 2017; Jamaluddin & Ruswanti, 2017; Kasiri et al., 2017; Ramamoorthy et al., 2018; Sharma & Kumar, 2019). Customer satisfaction is more important than profit-making because customer satisfaction leads to customer loyalty and to business growth (Yaqub et al., 2019). Firm leaders can develop effective strategies to retain customers and acquire new clients by increasing customer satisfaction through better service quality (Alvarez-Garcia et al., 2017; Atiyah, 2017). Successful companies are known to be constantly improving the quality-of-service offerings to meet customers' satisfaction (Palladan & Ahmad, 2019).

Service quality in the context of the telecom industry is usually measured through the lens of network reliability, customer support, and fee schedule. Service quality is used to obtain customer satisfaction and to achieve business sustainability (Dewi, 2019). In the telecommunication industry sector, scholars and academics from different regions of the world have explored the influence of service quality on customer loyalty (Belwal & Amireh, 2018). Customer demands for service quality become more difficult to satisfy in the highly competitive telecommunication market because they have a variety of alternatives to choose from (Yaqub et al., 2019). In such an environment of competition,

telecom firm leaders should consider service quality as a differentiation factor and work on improving the quality of service rendered because it leads to customer satisfaction and loyalty (Alamsyah & Rachmawati, 2018; Delima et al., 2019), but mainly to company financial performance (Mohtasham et al., 2017). In the context of the Western Senegal telecommunication market, companies providing a sustained service quality may expect a loyal customer base despite the competitive market environment of low switching costs and number portability.

Introducing the following subsections, elements such as empathy, assurance, reliability, and responsiveness are considered the main dimensions of service quality that can lead to customer satisfaction and to customer loyalty (Demir, 2017, 2019). Customers chose a service provider based on empathy, assurance, reliability, and responsiveness; thus, firms should continuously work to improve those service quality dimensions (Kwame et al., 2019). Firm leaders should evaluate the influence of the strategies on each dimension of service quality (Kaisiri et al., 2017).

Empathy

One aspect of customer satisfaction resides in meeting customer expectations through developing empathy in customer relations (Prakoso et al., 2017). Empathy is the special attention provided by firm employees to understand customer choices and preferences and deliver personalized customer service (Setiawan & Sayuti, 2017). Empathy makes the customer feel cared for and valued (Sarkhel & Osman, 2020). Front-line employees such as front desk staff should be trained to develop empathy and active listening skills to meet customer expectations, improve customer satisfaction, and gain

customer loyalty (Balaji et al., 2017; Dewi, 2020). Employees who develop knowledge, skills, and an intuitive awareness of customer perception of service quality increase the firm's ability to provide superior service which could lead to customer loyalty (Ong et al., 2018; Zopiatis et al., 2017).

Because front-line staff are important to promote customer satisfaction and improve customer retention (Mahapatra & Kumar, 2017), leaders of the telecom industry of Western Senegal should appoint skilled front-desk employees who are knowledgeable of the firm products. The responsibility of company leaders is to design and establish conclusive procedures to motivate front-line employees and increase productivity (Siddiqui & Sahar, 2019). A motivated and engaged employee is a problem solver who may contribute to the firm financial well-being and sustainability (Yap & Kee, 2017). Customers may also be empathetic toward firm personnel regardless of employee skillset (Tsarenko et al., 2019). In contrast, non-qualified personnel will not provide any competitive advantage as an outcome of customer retention (Bhattacharjee et al., 2019).

Assurance

Assurance is also an important factor that could influence customer satisfaction (Ngwenya, 2017; Prakoso et al., 2017). Assurance is the trust that a customer in company employees to be courteous, knowledgeable, and ready to handle customer inquiries (Dewi, 2020). Assurance is a combination of both knowledge and empathy. When front desk employees are knowledgeable and courteous, they make customers feel confident about the quality of the service provided and may become satisfied customers. To improve assurance and turn a satisfied customer into a loyal customer, company leaders

need to be proactive by collecting customer feedback, both positive and negative, to improve service offerings (Eckert, 2017; Hawkins & Hoon, 2019; Kim et al., 2017).

In the telecom industry, assurance is the leading dimension of customer satisfaction (Palladan & Ahmad, 2019). Telecommunication firm leaders who seek to improve customer loyalty should work on increasing trust and assurance levels of the customer (Palladan & Adamu, 2019). In the telecom industry, assurance involves more than service quality to encompass data safeguards, as many customers want to be assured that a company can protect personal information (Raghavan et al., 2017). Prompt treatment of customer concerns expressed through feedback is an appropriate way for firm leaders to enjoy an increased customer trust and assurance. Adversely, a lack of company assurance ruins customer trust and could lead the customer to start looking for another provider, even with similar or marginally different or better service (Mahapatra & Kumar, 2017).

The notion of assurance is mainly important in emerging markets of developing countries characterized by consumers with limited income and reduced buying power. In the context of the Western Senegal market, limited earnings lead the majority of consumers to look for affordable but reliable products; customers want to spend money on a worthwhile product and service relevant to personal needs. In such an environment, the challenge of service providers will consist of keeping the balance of providing affordable products while maintaining a high-quality service.

Reliability

Reliability is the capacity of a company to deliver the promised service with accuracy (Mohammed & Shahin, 2020). Reliable service quality is the key to company sustainability and is also the justification for higher product costs (Ngwenya, 2017). Customer satisfaction is a direct outcome of reliable service (Izogo & Izogo, 2017). Customers are loyal to companies that can provide reliable service (Belwal & Amireh, 2018; Izogo, 2017; Palladan & Ahmad, 2019). In the context of the Western Senegal telecom environment, reliability holds a high position on the scale of customer satisfaction. Due to migration in developing countries, many young people have moved from the rural areas to the Western side capital city of Senegal but also to overseas for those who could travel. The people who have undertaken internal migration under the rural exodus phenomenon and the emigrants who have traveled to a foreign country all rely on new technologies to stay in contact with family and friends. A reliable service network that can provide fast connectivity is what mainly drives customers' expectations.

Responsiveness

Also correlated with the delivery of service that meets expectations, reliability associated with a prompt service delivery bears the notion of responsiveness that can make a substantial difference in a competitive environment. Responsiveness is the company's willingness to help customers and provide fast service (Setiawan & Sayuti, 2017). Customers choose service providers based on the responsiveness of both the front-line personnel and the company network (Dhasan et al., 2017).

The development of new technologies has contributed to the creation of a new profile of customers. Responsiveness takes another meaning with Generation Y customers, as they tend to be less patient and more demanding. Generation Y customers are high profile users of social media, well informed, and desire reliable interconnectivity, but they are rarely loyal customers (Moreno et al., 2017). More than 50% of Generation Z and millennials aged between 18 and 21 old may not commit to one product even when they like it; in contrast, 65% of Generation X and 75% of baby boomers are repetitive buyers of a product they like (King, 2018). Because of an acute disparity in Generation Y's commitment to a brand, the service industry has endured a significant loss of revenue in the last 10 years, representing a 15 to 30% decline in customer satisfaction and a \$10 billion annual loss per year (Ascarza et al., 2016).

Commitment is among the most important elements that constitute the foundation of relationships and that may influence customer brand loyalty and repurchase intention (Kemp & Poole, 2017). To build a long-term relationship with customers, company leaders need to adopt an adequate service failure response strategy (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). The way company leaders handle service failures often has a direct impact on customer perception of firm reliability (Iglesias et al., 2018). Customers change service providers when they experience poor service quality and a lack of commitment (Mahapatra & Kumar, 2017). A dissatisfied customer tends to look for another service provider (Dewi, 2020). Successful service recovery becomes fundamental to preventing the negative effects of service failures and could serve as a first step toward creating satisfied and loyal customers (Yaqub & Halim, 2018).

Service Failure

In service activities, namely the telecommunication industry, customers are among the most likely to experience dissatisfaction than in other sectors. Every telecommunication customer has experienced at some point call drops or an Internet disconnection while conducting a personal or private business. Service failure is a gap between expected and delivered service, a short-term or long-lasting service disruption that discontinues customer experience leading to customer dissatisfaction (Van Vaerenbergh et al., 2019). Some customers are more prone to express frustration than others and do not hesitate to report a bad experience to the service provider. Customers who experience service failure may sometimes feel angry to an extent that they either spread negative word-of-mouth, leave for another service provider (Koc et al., 2017), or display negative emotions (Baladji et al., 2017). Despite the many preventive measures to guarantee continuous operation, service failure is not considered avoidable (Van Vaerenbergh, 2019; Yaqub et al., 2019). Service providers who place a high priority on the provision of superior quality service to customers are even subject to service failures (Ellyawati, 2017). Whatever the cause may be, firm leaders' responsibility is to promptly resolve service failures to the satisfaction of customers (Koc, 2018).

Consequences of reduced company profits have led some company leaders to consider service failure as an internal crisis to make front-line employees aware of the importance of service failure and its potential negative effects on company performance and customer perception of reliability (Andirin et al., 2017). Because service failure can lead to customer defection, firm leaders have frequently acknowledged the need for

customer retention through successful service failure resolution strategies (Chuah et al., 2017). A dissatisfied customer may have a passionate decision that refrains them from repurchasing company products (Bagozzi et al., 2017) which could negatively affect firm revenues (Hult et al., 2019). The way company leaders handle a service failure situation often influences a customer's decision to stay with the same company or change service provider (Iglesias et al., 2018). The reason customers switch service providers may be attributed to the inability of telecom managers to efficiently anticipate and handle situations of service failures (Kalani et al., 2018).

For many years, researchers have spent significant number of hours to identify and address the issue of service failures (Van Vaerenbergh et al., 2019). Recognizing a service failure and taking accountability constitute a first step toward solving a service failure to customer satisfaction (Van Vaerenbergh et al., 2019). Business leaders should provide justification and accept responsibility rather than offer excuses to blame others (Rasoulian et al., 2017). When a frustrated customer is given a valid reason for a service failure and a timely re-performance, they are more willing to accept an apology, which can avoid an undesirable reaction (Hogreve et al., 2017).

An inference may be drawn that telecom leaders in the Western Senegal market should promptly communicate service disruption to avoid that customer call in to complain about a service failure. When customers reach out to a company to inquire about a service failure and must wait for an extended time before receiving an explanation, they may be frustrated and even look for another service provider.

Customers should be at the center of any system that companies develop to implement

effective service failure resolution strategies (Rai & Appiah, 2019). Because the sustainability of a business is contingent on the satisfaction of the customer, leaders of telecom firms should enforce departments solely dedicated to handling customer complaints to spontaneously address customer dissatisfaction. From the contention of researchers and practitioners, to prevent or minimize service failures, company leaders should integrate an efficient service recovery process into firm strategic planning (Homburg et al., 2017). As service disruption is sometimes inevitable, company leaders should endeavor to respond to a customer complaint in a diligent, meticulous, and professional manner to meet customer perception of service quality.

Firm newer customers often react negatively to poor service failure recovery compared to customers who have been longer with the company (Béal et al., 2019). Customers who have been with the company for a long time are found more tolerant of service failures than customers with a shorter experience. Consumers who are satisfied with the service recovery are more loyal to the service provider and could even engage in positive word-of-mouth communication in favor of a company, and perhaps also, recommend the products of the firm to other potential customers who may be influenced by testimonials (Yaman, 2018). An adapted service failure recovery strategy contributes to customer satisfaction and can result to customer retention.

Customers involved in the resolution process through co-creation of service recovery may feel satisfied with the resolution and be open to re-patronage (Haee et al., 2017). Co-creation is a way for company leaders to make customers feel associated with the company and feel like co-owners, which could make them company proponents and

loyal customers (Preikschas et al., 2017). Leaders of the telecom industry in Western Senegal could use the principle of co-creation in a situation of service failure to engage customers in the resolution process, which could improve customer satisfaction and loyalty. Customer satisfaction and loyalty are of superior importance to firm financial performance (Hill & Alexander, 2017). Customers are satisfied with a service failure resolution when they receive some sort of compensation, such as bonus points or discounts. Satisfaction could be a determining factor that leads to the customer becoming loyal to the firm (Hadi et al., 2019). Loyal customers contribute to the improvement of company's competitive advantage as well as company financial well-being (Tartaglione et al., 2019). The financial success of a company could reflect in high-quality products and services by way of meaningful investments that promote customer satisfaction.

Customer Satisfaction

Economic activities are mainly based on exchanges between two or more parties and consist of offers and demands, leading to the satisfaction of all parties involved in the transactions. Some activities incur more challenges than others to meet consumers' expectations, and targeted strategies and tactics do not always guarantee customer satisfaction. Customer satisfaction is the state of emotion when customer expectations coincide with service received (Hossain et al., 2017). Customer satisfaction is the result of affordable quality products and services that match expectations (Nuridin, 2018). Central to a company's marketing strategy is customer satisfaction, which constitutes a substantial comparative advantage in highly competitive markets (Leninkumar, 2017). Customer satisfaction has long been central to long-term customer relationships

(Mahapatra & Kumar, 2017), and the main driver of customer retention (Chuah et al., 2017). The concept of customer satisfaction involves a variety of notions to consider, such as customer commitment, co-creation, and social media involvement that place customers at the center of company revenue creation strategies (Preikschas et al., 2017).

The Western Senegal telecom market has one distinctive feature, which makes it a very homogeneous market regarding the implementation of a marketing strategy. The latest census report indicated that 77% of the population is less than 35 years old (United Nations, 2018). For market segmentation and targeting purposes, it should be easier to communicate with this audience, considering their familiarity with the digital and electronic technology world. To provide a high-quality service that meets customer expectations and satisfaction, it may be important for firm leaders to use CRM to have a better perception and interpretation of customer lifestyle (Ali, 2019).

Through CRM, firm leaders can collect valuable information from customers in the form of feedback, which could serve decision-makers identify areas of improvement to enhance service offerings (Chahal & Bala, 2017). Improved service quality leads to customer satisfaction (Mady, 2020). From the review of literature in this study, it may be assumed that leaders of the Western Senegal telecom market could find ways to better capitalize on customer comments. The market intelligence information collected may provide the impetus for telecom industry leaders to invest in front-line personnel training, but also in infrastructure development that could improve the ability to provide reliable quality services. The process of feedback should not be a one-way transaction, as leaders of the telecom firms in Western Senegal could provide tailored activity reports to

customers regularly, which in return could increase customers' sense of loyalty and satisfaction. Collecting feedback is a way for a company to have a better understanding of customers' perception of the firm achievement, notably in each of the four P quadrants of the marketing mix (Eckert, 2017).

Quality customer service through a superior customer retention management strategy and customer interaction are major contributing factors to customer satisfaction and retention (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). Based on the findings of the importance of the representation of generation Y, Z, and millennials, the strategy perhaps maybe for telecom leaders to build marketing strategies aiming at satisfying the younger generations through brand loyalty with the objective of developing lifetime customers. Customer satisfaction appears to be important in the efforts on customer retention. In a competitive market, customer satisfaction contributes to retaining customers and to increasing market share (Tandon et al., 2017).

In the context of the telecom market, there is limited literature in the area of customer satisfaction and telephone industry marketing information, trends, and other dynamics. Assessing customer satisfaction might require a survey to define different customer profiles and determine the type of products appealing to each profile for customer satisfaction and retention. Satisfied customers invariably contribute to company sustainability through repeated purchases and increased company revenue. Customer satisfaction is among the best attributes of firm achievements and serves to protect company sustainability (Dewi, 2020). Customer satisfaction has a direct effect on customer retention and an immediate positive consequence on company earnings (Cho et

al., 2017). As suggested by Jahan et al. (2019), the level of customer satisfaction is an appropriate tool to enhance customer retention and could be necessary for a company to benefit from referrals.

Research conducted in the telecom industry by Bandi and Dharmaraju (2019) indicated that customer satisfaction derived from customer perceived values, and product quality would lead to customer retention and loyalty. The growing competition in the telecom industry is an opportunity for customers to have increased bargaining power; consequently, company leaders should constantly work on improving customer satisfaction and trust (Hafez & Akther, 2017). To stay competitive and increase market share, company leaders should improve service quality to raise customer satisfaction and retention (Palladan & Palladan, 2018). Product quality and customer-perceived service quality usually have a positive impact on customer satisfaction (Bandit & Dharmaraju, 2019). Service quality positively influences customer satisfaction and can lead to customer loyalty (Kasiri et al., 2017).

The finding from the extensive research undertaken that customer satisfaction leads to customer loyalty may not be consistent in a monopolistic market such as Western Senegal, where the switching cost is low with a possibility of mobile number portability. The decrease or non-existence of switching costs, along with number portability, is what facilitates customers use of the same device across service providers, which may constitute an obstacle to customer loyalty (Smith, 2020). In such a market, customer satisfaction may not necessarily lead to loyalty and may barely affect brand fidelity (Hadi et al., 2019). In their argument, Hadi et al. added that customer satisfaction needs to be

given a broader view to include convenience, expectations, customer service, personal relationships, rewards, reputation, and community outreach.

In the telecommunication industry, researchers have proven that customer satisfaction is a determinant of customer loyalty, which in return may influence customer retention (Diaz, 2017). Customer satisfaction is a driver of customer retention (Hawkins, 2019). Company leaders may promote a long-term relationship with customers by establishing a good retention management strategy with concomitant quality service offerings, to achieve lasting customer satisfaction. Customer satisfaction accomplished through sound quality service offerings is critical for firms to enhance customer loyalty and retention (Alvarez-Garcia et al., 2017).

Customer Retention

Company leaders rely on competitive advantage strategies to secure customer retention (Uner et al., 2020). The creation of competitive advantage constitutes a challenging endeavor for firm leaders (Ascarza et al., 2017), but customer retention will play an important role in service providers' survival in the future (Fernandes & Pedroso, 2017). Several academics and marketing specialists have conducted extensive studies about customer retention and related antecedents (Ascarza et al., 2017). In very competitive markets, firm leaders constantly look for strategies to increase customer retention (Datta et al., 2018). Marketing practitioners agree that retaining current customers is more profitable for firms than acquiring new customers (Mabkhot et al., 2017). In a buyers' market with more players, customers may decide to stop doing business (customer churn) with a given service provider without prior notification when

they find better offerings (Uner et al., 2020). In dealing with customer retention, researchers have sustained that a declining market growth or a highly competitive market are the two main factors that can make customer retention a difficult endeavor.

In the context of the Western Senegal market, customer retention complexity is a consequence of acute competition. A competitive market should be the reason for business leaders to focus on customer retention strategies as it constitutes a critical challenge to a constructing competitive advantage (Ascarza et al., 2017). Company profit and sustainability is closely linked to customer buying habit, firm leaders who fail to retain customers may run the risk of going out of business. Some companies previously were forced out of the Western Senegal telecommunication market because they lacked effective strategies to retain customers, failing to dedicate adequate attention to what constitutes the main source of business sustainability. A high-quality service could be a way for mobile network service providers to attract and maintain a customer base (Kwame et al., 2019). But in the highly competitive telecom sector, customers are offered a variety of service providers to choose from, which makes retaining and acquiring customers more challenging (Ascarza et al., 2018).

The importance of customer retention is emphasized by Preikschas et al. (2017), who stated that firm leaders sustain customer long-term commitment and re-patronage through customer satisfaction and retention. The customer retention management framework used as a strategic tool could be useful in framing the company-customer relationship strategy, thereby providing telecom leaders a better understanding of customer behavioral propensities and choices. The achievement of customer retention

entails a strong company-customer relationship that could spur better customer satisfaction that contributes to an increase in company revenues and lowered promotional spending. The knowledge and identification of customer choice and preferences that enhance customer satisfaction require that company leaders depart from a product-focused practice to expand into a stronger customer relationship strategy. The pivotal role of customer retention in company efforts is in increasing customer relationships (Ascraza et al., 2017). The important purpose of customer retention strategies is for firm leaders to maximize economic and noneconomic benefits through a long-term, mutually beneficial relationship with customers, using the conduit of improved customer satisfaction (Alvarez-Garcia et al., 2017).

In the Western Senegal telecom sector, to develop customer relationships, company leaders often support communities in the form of sponsoring by enrolling an entire suburb in some sort of activities that create continuous interaction between the population and the company sponsor. The strategy usually consists of signing an agreement that spans several years during which a team (soccer, basketball, and other sports) of the target community receives a set amount each year for the identified activity. With such a strategy, a brand image is usually established, which serves to support customer loyalty among adults. With the presence of the company logo throughout the neighborhood, younger generations can grow up remembering the company sponsor logo. Customer knowledge, awareness, and relationship with a brand, all contribute to shaping customer's mental perception and emotional attachment to a firm (Srivastava and Rai,

2018). A strong brand image acts as a cognitive-behavioral model that can lead to customer fidelity and retention (Espinosa et al., 2018).

The determination of customers' true needs and expectations is fundamental to the achievement of customer satisfaction and retention. Customer retention is considered to have a direct positive impact on customer satisfaction which may be to the benefit of a firm. With as little as a 1% increase in customer retention, a company could improve profit by 5% (Moenardy et al., 2016). Referring to the Pareto principle, Hwang (2016) further suggested that 80% of company benefit is generated by 20% of the company's existing customers. Telecommunication firm leaders seek to retain as many customers as possible through customer loyalty and brand loyalty initiatives (Kumar & Lyall, 2018). Organizations should promote the brand image to improve customer mental perception and symbolic association of company products to unique qualitative attributes (Ashraf & Niazi, 2018).

The establishment of effective strategies to retain customers becomes even more challenging in the ever-changing telecommunication sector (Deshpande & Deshmukh, 2017). A slight increase in customer demands has a clear positive effect on management's strategies to retain customers and acquire new clients. Important factors to consider about customer retention are the recurrence of purchase and the time of the relationship between the customer and the company (Hamilton et al., 2017). To establish retention strategies, telecom leaders could research historic data and information about the primary reasons that have resulted in customer churn and strive to improve the quality-of-service offerings (Ascarza, 2017). When organization leaders can identify the

reasons for customer attrition, they may create a tailored customer retention strategy (Carrera et al., 2018). The main challenge of customer retention does not consist of determining a profile of high-risk customers prone to depart, but rather to identify customers who are more responsive to the retention efforts (Ascarza, 2018).

To allude to the issue of customer retention, Tidey (2018) propounded that a loyal customer is five times less costly than a newly acquired customer. Retaining an existing customer is five times more challenging than enrolling a new customer (Jamaluddin & Ruswanti, 2017). Customer defection is costly to the organization; to optimize company financial performance, retaining existing customers becomes more important than acquiring new customers (Bahri-Ammari & Bilgihan, 2019). Company leaders tend to spend a considerable amount of money and time to acquire new customers, although perhaps not adequately enough to create and maintain a long-term relationship with existing customers. Business leaders may find strategic and business value in adopting a customer-centric strategy that augurs a stronger relationship with customers and that would possibly lead to better customer satisfaction, which would yield customer retention and the issuance of associated rewards. Customer retention is more than just financial the non-financial gain may help improve company competitiveness and productivity (Alvarez-Garcia et al., 2017). The non-financial benefit of customer retention from satisfied customers includes spreading positive word-of-mouth and possibly referring new customers (Mahapatra & Kumar, 2017). To increase customer retention, firm leaders could improve CRM strategy to achieve stronger customer relationships (McCrory et al., 2017).

In the Senegalese telecommunication market, word-of-mouth and the effectiveness of firms' promotional campaigns often play an important role in people's decision to choose a service provider. Consumers join a service provider based on friends and family recommendations or the effectiveness in the outreach of ongoing promotional campaigns. The Senegalese market call rates are affordable, and the network coverage is quite efficient for the different service providers, while users rely on recommendations from family members or friends to enroll in a given firm plan. Word-of-mouth from existing or former customers influences the decision of new customers to engage with a service provider (Yaman, 2018). The statement is in line with Generation Y, Z, and millennials consumers characterized as relying more on electronic word-of-mouth comments posted on social media or company websites than in advertisements or other promotional tools.

Regardless of the size or nature of activities, company leaders should consider sales promotion to be among the best tools for customer acquisition and retention (Yahya et al., 2019). Promotional offers could keep a customer from leaving a company (Devriendt, 2021). To improve customer retention, telecommunication firms need to maintain front-line personnel more engaged in interacting with consumers (Braun et al., 2017). With an increased front-line personnel engagement, telecom business leaders in the Western Senegal telecom market may reap profitability dividends from a better relationship with the employees. Front line personnel are more productive when they have open communication with managers and feel supported by their leaders. To improve customer satisfaction, firm leaders should observe dominant elements that influence

employee performance (Dainty & Sinclair, 2017). Telecom leaders in Western Senegal could conduct an internal review of key performance indicators (KPI) to enhance employee performance but also to enhance customer satisfaction.

Firm leaders who establish a stronger customer relationship might realize improved customer retention (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). The more company employees are involved, the more productive they become, making the service delivery more effective (Young et al., 2018). Customers are more willing to do business with a company when they are happy with the products or service offerings and when they have rewarding experiences with front-line personnel (Yahya et al., 2019). Poor customer service is the cause of more than 70% of customer churn (McCrory et al., 2017). To prevent customer churn, firm leaders may benefit, as may be inferred from the foregoing analysis, from implementing effective strategies that influence customer loyalty.

Promotional Strategies

Brand image has a positive influence on customer perception of service quality and customer long-term patronage (Espinosa et al., 2018). With a strong brand, company leaders may retain existing custom and increase market share (Fournier & Srinivasan, 2018). Firm leaders consistently seek to establish a stronger brand image through consistent loyalty and reward programs. In the Western Senegal market, telephone company leaders regularly propose reward programs by offering bonuses or discounts in the occasional 24-hour increments. Different social and religious activities constitute platforms for the congregation of a large number of disciples in specific cities of Senegal; those ceremonies are often used as pretexts for telecommunication firm leaders to offer

promotional programs tailored to the nature of the event also astutely called event marketing and promotion.

The leaders of the Western Senegal telecom industry use different marketing channels to promote products. Firms should be consistent with the nature of the message delivered and should convey the same information across the different mediums (Kaczorowska-Spychalska, 2017). The fast-changing and alluring technology leads the customers to change provider based on service quality, cost of service, or newer features (Smith, 2020). To acquire a leadership position, company leaders should keep abreast of new technologies and be prompt to appropriately leverage these advantageously in marketing and customer outreach (Hadi et al., 2019).

Consumer involvement and satisfaction with reward programs generally influence prompt purchases and promote loyalty (Bahri-Ammari & Bilgihan, 2019). Making a loyal customer to become a lifetime member is of considerable benefit to the firm as well as a way of preventing customer churn (Baxter, 2018). A loyalty program is a good practice for telecom leaders to achieve customer satisfaction as well as to improve retention rates. In the Western Senegal telecom market, promotion programs are often available to new and frequent users. Incentives or loyalty programs should be limited to existing buyers as a means of rewarding their patronage and to improve the long-term relationship (Silalahi et al., 2017).

Retention campaigns could be ineffective or even produce an adverse effect when not implemented properly (Ascarza, 2017; Ascarza et al., 2018). On the basis that customers respond differently, Ascarza (2017) opined that firms should target promotions

efforts on customers who are more sensitive to the campaign rather than trying to stop the potential churners. To run an effective promotion campaign and retain customers,

Ascarza (2017) proposed a three-step strategy consisting of: Testing the capabilities of the firm through a retention test phase, segregating the different profiles of customers, and tailoring a promotion strategy that targets customers who are more sensitive to the promotion campaign.

Different technology platforms are usually customizable and available for firm leaders to use and execute a communication strategy. With the development of new technologies, firms extensively use internet-based and interactive online applications to promote product offerings. Telecom leaders could provide a better customer experience by using new technologies to improve CRM and retention (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). New technologies often represent improved platforms for businesses to offer tailored products in the effort to build and surpass customer expectations while increasing benefits (Peppers & Rogers, 2017). Through company websites or social media, business leaders can develop digital word-of-mouth marketing, which may be conducive for customers to provide feedback and spontaneously receive a response about a specific product (Schlagwein & Hu, 2017). Telecom firms in the Senegalese market often send free text messages and emails to inform customers of ongoing promotions. The promotional offers are usually discounts on purchases or bonuses that can go from 100% to 600% of the amount spent by the customer to buy a prepaid card. The promotions may target purchases performed online, from a kiosk, or from both. The offers are often valid

for 24 hours on the day the promotion is emailed, or sent through instant messenger to the customers, which brings many users to rush to buy prepaid cards.

The large access to mobile phone technology by the population usually makes instant messenger a convenient channel to reach the target market (Shadkam, 2017). Mobile Apps are more suitable for the objective of improving brand awareness because they are less invasive than instant messengers and more used than regular internet browsers (Tao & Edmunds, 2018). In the recent past and in 2021, telecom firms that want to retain customers and acquire new clients are advised to use mobile internet technology as a marketing tool (Mullatahiri & Ukaj, 2019).

Loyal customers enjoy fidelity programs as tokens of appreciation for their continued patronage (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). The research findings of Rehnen et al. (2017) revealed that customers who benefited from loyalty programs increased participation when the received rewards were based on frequent customer use of firm social media platforms; hence, firm leaders should communicate more often with customers through social media platforms. Social media constitute a conversation platform where customers and firm representatives can exchange (Guha et al., 2018).

To run a competitive and lucrative business, leaders need to recognize the necessity to differentiate product offerings through a better understanding of customer needs to meet and surpass existing levels of customer satisfaction (Eggert et al., 2018). The Western Senegal market is very challenging for companies at different levels; firms are faced with increasing rivalry due in part to the arrival of new competitors that affect every segment of companies marketing mix identified by Kotler (1967) as composed of

product, price, promotion, and place. The marketing mix is fundamental to the success of the company's strategy toward maintaining sustainability (Kumar, 2018).

Product

The product is what connects the company to the clients; it serves as a bridge between the two parties. The appreciation that customers have for a product or service will be crucial to the perception of a company. To make a lasting positive perception in customer's mind, company leaders usually need to differentiate from the competition by providing attractive and convincing offerings (Mohanty & Das, 2017). Product differentiation constitutes a constant challenge to overcome as business leaders continually innovate to beat the competition but also to satisfy customers. The best way for a company to survive in such a highly competitive market environment is through diversified and innovative offerings. Firm leaders differentiate product and service offerings to establish and sustain a competitive advantage, as well as to improve customer satisfaction and retention (Ogake, 2017). The sustainability of a company is usually contingent upon the company leaders' ability to offer differentiated products and services that may benefit customers but also provide a distinct and unique competitive advantage (Randhawa et al., 2017).

Telecom firms are known to be customer-centric businesses that implicate a unique customer relationship approach to carry out all value creation strategies to retain customers (Mahapatra & Kumar, 2017). In the Western Senegal market, telecom firm leaders tend to offer the same type of products, and the differentiation could mainly be in the service delivery and the approach to make the customer feel unique by means of

empathy. The strategy of service differentiation usually makes a substantial and long-lasting contribution to brand sustainability (Bundy, 2017). Leaders of the telecom industry may derive value from providing an alluring customer experience to create loyal customers. Customers with behavior loyalist attitudes are more susceptible to increased re-patronage (Peng & Li, 2019).

Price

Customers are always looking for the best combination of quality products and services at the lowest possible price. Price is among the main features that influence customer decision to buy a product (Cruz-Milan, 2021). Firms' leaders should be prudent and set a reasonable price, but should also offer discounts to motivate customer repatronage (Cruz-Milan, 2021). Delivering quality product and service contribute to building a lasting and positive relationship that maximizes customer and company experiences. Customer perception of price fairness has a direct impact on customer satisfaction levels that can either increase or decrease (Leinsle et al., 2018). Based on the results of Konuk's (2018) research, it may be evident that customers are eager to pay more when they have a positive experience with a company's offerings.

Price estimation constitutes a strategic decision that firms frequently put in place to generate revenues and sustain profits (Kumar & Lakshmi, 2019). In that exercise, firm leaders face the challenge of juggling the marketing mix to find a suitable balance that will not affect company profit objectives while meeting customer satisfaction. The statement holds mainly true in environments such as the Western Senegal market, where customer buying power is restrained by low income. In such a setting, managers could

apportion investments to deliver adequate quality level products at prices that do not compromise customer perception of good quality (Baxter, 2018). Injudicious marketing, products could be segmented and stratified in a way that different bundled packages are offered to meet customer expectations based on demographic and other criteria, which consider customer buying power and the position of the company in the market. To achieve customer satisfaction, marketing leaders generally use market segmentation to offer tailored products and services (Bruwer et al., 2017).

In the Western Senegal market, firm leaders could carefully consider the market condition before pricing products. The pricing decision is an important part of the corporate management and firm relationship marketing strategy (Trihatmoko & Purnamasari, 2019). The nature of the product and market target could get company leaders to implement one of the two main recommended pricing strategies which may include skimming and penetration (Rekettye & Liu, 2018). Skimming pricing consists of a firm entering a market with a high price and then progressively reducing the price (Zhan & Chiang, 2018). With wealthy customers in mind, firm leaders could adopt the skimming pricing strategy to influence customer perception of high quality and provide them with the perception of saving on a high-quality product when the prices decrease. An astute pricing strategy can produce important cash flow in a short period of time while creating a perception of high quality in the mind of the customer, as well as fulfilling the purpose of retaining customers. Telecom leaders could conversely implement or consider penetration pricing in highly populated areas with lower income,

making products more affordable and giving the customer an impression of getting a good deal.

Adopting a winning pricing strategy requires that leaders consider a variety of factors (Kienzler & Kowalkowski, 2017). The factors include finding a real need for the product, the economic environment, and mainly the position of the competition (Rekettye & Liu, 2018). To accomplish sustainability constitutes the objective of firm leaders but is not an end goal. Sustainability consists of a series of permanent actions with no end in sight, but firm leaders can claim competitive advantage when a positive profit margin is maintained (Gek & Lok, 2019).

Promotion

The action of promotion usually consists of different actions initiated by firm leaders to inform consumers of new products or an improvement in the form of new features added to existing products. With the development of new technologies, digital and social media have become the new tools to run promotional campaigns (Cole et al., 2017), offering options to deliver quicker and more personalized messages. Defining a profile that describes consumer's lifestyle may be critical to the promotion strategy to adopt. Based on consumer professional activity, leaders should adapt firm promotion strategies to customer lifestyle and try to understand customer perception of sales promotion, which will be conducive to tailor service offerings (Yahya et al., 2019). Marketers could also target days of the week to maximize a specific form of promotion. Lo et al. (2016) explored the relationship between promotion and day of the week and the impact on the number of purchases and found that in the restaurant industry, for example,

promotional programs offered on Thursday yield a higher return. In the Western Senegal market, some companies offer free data services between the hours of midnight and 06 am daily. The free offer works very well for security guards or individuals working the night shift, who possibly spend most of the day sleeping. Some customers, considering the offer, barely buy pre-paid service and wait until the night free time slot to make phone calls using free call Apps such as WhatsApp or Skype. Company leaders could lower the price at night or even propose lower prices to customers who purchase a certain number of prepaid services rather than offering the service for free.

Place

Based on knowledge and some study findings that indicate that customer purchase intention can be influenced by the proximity of service, business leaders frequently aim at implementing point of sales closer to customer location. Firm leaders adopt distribution strategies to make firm products available to customers (Trihatmoko et al., 2018). In the context of Western Senegal, the increase in demography has exponentially influenced the cost of housing, making the most strategic locations hard to find for firms to establish but unreasonably pricey when available. Finding a strategic location for firm leaders becomes another challenge that is added to the business strategy dilemma. New customers reside mainly in the suburbs of Western Senegal, where the rate of inhabitants is higher and buying power is lower than in upscale neighborhoods. Although having more people, companies that establish stores in the suburbs take important risks mainly associated with security with different financial implications. Companies established in low-income suburbs usually face different financial obligations; for instance, insurance companies

charge a high price, and costs associated with the security needed to enforce and safeguard company assets. Firm leaders face the challenge of creating a competitive advantage through building a successful connection with the community. In the process, leaders strive to safeguard company assets but also attempt to offer doorstep services to allow customers to top up credits as needed. The threats are real; recent social unrest witnessed a rampage of many stores in different suburbs of Western Senegal.

The 2020 pandemic Covid-19 has shown the capacity of the resiliency of the world; many businesses have turned to teleoperations to have the majority of employees work from home (Ma, 2021). Telecom leaders could minimize physical presence in areas where conditions do not meet minimum safety requirements to develop online platforms to conduct real-time interactions with customers. Considering the level of knowledge of the target population, the implementation of such platforms will certainly require an extensive campaign of information and education on the use of the platforms, but also dedicated personnel readily available to support customers whenever a need arises. The regular interaction between highly trained personnel and a customer base that gets answers as needed will also be an opportunity to retain clients and increase customer loyalty.

Customer Loyalty

Customer loyalty has different meanings, among which re-purchase intention is based on customer past purchase experiences that translate into a favorable behavior toward a given service provider (Fida et al., 2020). Loyalty consists of a customer's own choice to repeatedly purchase from a firm and to disregard offers from competitors

(Farida & Ardyan, 2018). Customer loyalty is among the main factors that affect company growth and sustainability and is often recognized as a direct outcome of customer satisfaction (Fida et al., 2020; Yaqub & Halim, 2017). Customer satisfaction plays a major role in bridging service quality and customer loyalty (Hadi et al., 2019). To maintain sustainability and increase company profits, firm leaders may derive benefit in securing customer loyalty, especially of value, in the intensely competitive telecom industry. Company leaders seek customer continued patronage by using loyalty programs and by making firm products and services more appealing than the competition (Bahri-Ammari & Bilgihan, 2019). Appealing loyalty program is a good way to attract customers, but when customer enjoyment improves from consuming the product, the satisfaction may increase. The more customers are satisfied with a loyalty program, the longer they stay with the company, which may improve company sustainability (Bahri-Ammari & Bilgihan, 2019). Company leaders who want to guarantee a sustainable business may need to realize the importance of service quality and the correlation with customer satisfaction (Palladan & Palladan, 2018).

An increasing number of players and well-informed buyers make customer loyalty a challenging objective to achieve by telecom leaders. In the context of the Western Senegal telecom market, to stay competitive and promote growth through customer loyalty, leaders should establish effective strategies that lead to customer satisfaction and customer loyalty. Customer satisfaction reflects a company's comprehensive achievement of customer expectations (Switala et al., 2019). Customer

satisfaction constitutes in that sense a strong mediator of customer loyalty (Leninkumar, 2017).

Many customer satisfaction studies conducted in the service industry are mainly found and observed as undertaken in the developed countries of the West. The concept of loyalty needs to be contextualized to consider different aspects that characterize a developing country such as Senegal, where cultural and economic environments constitute the main driving factors that influence the customer buying decision. With limited income, many customers look for cheaper services; it is not uncommon to find a customer who gets services from two different providers: One for the cheaper call rate and another provider for the lower data cost. Company leaders often maneuver between services offered to balance costs; one service provider might be cheaper than the competition in terms of call rates, but another service might be more expensive in terms of data rates. In such an environment, total brand loyalty becomes almost impossible to realize (Morgan & Govender, 2017). Firm leaders should consider delivering packages that can appear affordable to customers yet provide the necessary margins to offset costs for the company.

The majority of decision-makers of telecom companies in developing countries have acquired education and experiences from developed countries, which may make them somewhat detached from the social reality of the local environment that could lead to indifference. Insensitivity to customers' true expectations is a contributing factor to companies' lack of growth (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). A closer relationship with customers allows company leaders to provide services that meet customer expectations

for customer satisfaction and retention (Bahri-Ammari & Bilbihan, 2019). Different researchers agreed that customer satisfaction has a significant effect on customer loyalty (Smith, 2020).

Conclusion

The literature review undertaken in this study represents the analysis of strategies that leaders of the Western Senegal telecom industry use to retain and acquire customers. An important number of journalists in other areas of marketing and business performance uncovered multiple aspects of the intended area of study. In the Senegalese telecom industry, several decision-makers and marketing managers have thoroughly studied the problem and proposed different solutions. The issue of retaining and acquiring new customers continues to be a persistent problem difficult to resolve, perhaps because of the different dynamics discussed herein and attributable causes presented.

Undertaking this case study provided an opportunity to review the way leaders of the telecommunication industry explore different avenues that could lead to better strategies to improve customer satisfaction. Ultimately, firm leaders pursue three major goals: Sustainability through long-term survival, maximum profits guaranteed by a sustained cash flow, and a leadership position established on a strong market share. The three goals could be achieved when telecom leaders can execute strategies that may get customers to possibly depart from the notion of a comparative analysis mindset and be fully satisfied with the firm products and services, which require intensive work, involving a thorough analysis of the marketing mix (Trihatmoko et al., 2018).

Transition

Section 1 of this qualitative case study includes a summary of the foundation and background of the research topic as well as the definition of the problem and purpose statements. Consecutive to the statements, brief discussions of the research method and design were developed in the nature of the study portion of the research, followed by the research question that aligns with the specific business problem and purpose statement. A series of open-ended interview questions elicited the required depth of information to explore and understand the phenomenon of customer acquisition and retention in Western Senegal, which contributed to the existing levels of knowledge of the phenomenon. The overarching research question was listed, followed by an explicit description of the underlying conceptual framework, which served as a theoretical lens for this research study. Further to that, operational definitions presented herein explained some technical jargon and terms used in the study. To place the study findings in context, the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations were developed as well as the significance of the study in which the reasons that the study findings may be of value to businesses were discussed. To convince readers of the depth inquiry, a literature review was subsequently conducted with a discussion of the content of relevant literature, including critical analysis and synthesis of customer retention and acquisition.

In Section 2, the details presented included the research process and the methodology of data collection techniques and instruments to be used to further explore the data organization portion along with the reliability and validity of the study. Section 2 represented a discussion of the role of the researcher and the role of the study research

participants. A discussion on sampling rationale and size was presented, also included a discussion on the ethical aspect of the research, as well as expounding on the measure to ensure credibility and dependability.

Section 3 entailed presenting the findings and potential research gaps in the research, with proposed recommendations, from the analysis of the data, with a discussion on opportunities for future research. An in-depth discussion of the applications to business practice as well as application to social change was further conducted. A summary statement of the study concluded the research study.

Section 2: The Project

In this section, a restatement of the purpose of the study is provided followed by a description of my role as a researcher in the data collection process. A detailed description of the eligibility criteria of participants is further discussed as well as the research method and design of the study. The rationale for the sample population is explored before addressing the ethical aspect of the research. A description of the techniques used to collect and organize data are further provided followed by an analysis of the data. The reliability and validity of study findings are also addressed.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers use to retain customers, acquire new clients, and ensure a sustained increase in business and market share. The target population consisted of three marketing managers of major telecommunication companies in Western Senegal who held at least 3 years of experience in successfully managing customer service departments. The findings of this study may contribute to social change by providing information that leads to an increase in company market share and revenues. The ensuing gains and prosperity may manifest in an increased contribution to the local community. The study results and knowledge may also contribute to the community welfare, especially in tandem with a corporate social responsibility policy.

Role of the Researcher

For the credibility of the research findings, researchers need to be aware of their role in the research process (Clark & Veale, 2018). My role as a researcher was to

conduct the interviews and collect the data in a way that information was clear, concise, and applicable to the phenomenon under study. Qualitative researchers are often considered the first research instrument (Mohajan, 2018). Researchers with a background similar to the research topic might be able to offer a better interpretation of participant responses to the interview questions (Miner-Romanoff, 2012). Experience in customer service has made me aware of customer care issues; the awareness of the topic was an advantage in the research process as well as in the interpretation of data collected. However, the knowledge of the researcher can also constitute a negative bias, such as confirmation bias, question-order bias, or leading questions and wording bias (Dooly et al., 2017). Researchers should also avoid the two extremes of data interpretation that can lead to data integrity deviation: over-interpretation and misinterpretation (Dooly et al., 2017). To mitigate research bias, constant awareness was maintained throughout the data collection process. Different steps were taken to reduce bias, such as (a) awareness of possible bias, (b) note-taking during interviews, (c) participant checking or confirmation of meaning (Miner-Romanoff, 2012). Triangulation was also used for increasing credibility and minimizing biases (Fusch et al., 2017; Noble & Heale, 2019).

Another role of the research is informing participants of the objective of the research to obtain their full consent (Dooly et al., 2017). Participants were notified of the option to opt out of the research at any moment of their choosing without any adverse consequence. The ethical standard requires that researchers respect participants by demonstrating justice and by providing participant benefits (Praveen & Showkat, 2017). Section 4e of the ethics and *The Belmont Report* protocol has indicated that researchers

respect and preserve participant identities throughout the research process if protecting anonymity does not impact the validity of the findings (National Institute of Health, 2014). Participant informed consent and assessment of the intent in terms of risk and benefits related to the study is required (Winter, 2017) and may often contribute to the improvement of the ethical procedures. Study participant profiles and privacy were protected, and personal identities were kept confidential.

To conduct this research study, open-ended, semistructured interviews were planned. The rationale for a semistructured interview was to facilitate the study participant managers to respond freely and with in-depth insights and personal participants' experiences in managing promotional campaigns. To reach the level of desired depth and sincerity in responses, qualitative researchers use semistructured interviews (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). With open-ended questions, researchers can access more details and achieve a better understanding of the topic (Weller et al., 2018). Researchers should also consider the important skills of a good interviewer such as engaging with relevant follow-up questions that may bring participants to freely relate personal experiences (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). An interview protocol promoted consistency and served as a roadmap through the interview process (Yin, 2018).

Participants

Participants can contribute to a better understanding of a research subject by providing appropriate and subject-related information (Creswell, 2018). The profile of study participants must align with the research purpose (Yin, 2018). In a qualitative case study, participants need to have experience and a close association in some way with the

phenomenon under study (Yin, 2018). To be eligible for this research study, participants needed to be marketing managers of major telecommunication companies in Western Senegal with 3 years of experience in successfully managing customer service departments. The selected managers were also required to have experience in the formulation and implementation of marketing and promotional strategies, with a record of monitoring customers' responses to promotional campaigns.

The strategies for gaining access to participants included social media networks such as LinkedIn, where researchers can find emails of eligible participants and further request a phone appointment. To find potential study participants, in the form of decision-makers, the professional profiles and email addresses, social media, and LinkedIn could be indispensable and effective professional networking sources for recruitment (Claybaugh & Haseman, 2013). To establish a working relationship, I explained the purpose of the study by sending an email with the informational letter in the body of the email and requested to work with the person in charge of the area of the study or the authorized personnel. An authorized representative is someone who can decide on behalf of the organization (Masterson & Cormican, 2013). Participants individually received an informed consent form to read and sign and were allowed to decide if they wanted to participate. For an effective data collection process, the researcher needs to create an ambiance of trust and confidence with participants (Korstjens & Moser, 2017).

Research Method and Design

The qualitative research method with a single case study design was an appropriate approach to conduct this study. This design helped address the research question and fulfill the objectives of the proposed study. Specific strategies were implemented as well to ensure data saturation.

Research Method

To identify a specific research method, the researcher should be guided by the objective of the topic and the study's main research question (Yin, 2018). The qualitative method was used for this study because it was suitable to seek deep and meaningful insights from the strategies that mobile telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain customers and acquire new clients. The qualitative method is more conducive to understanding a phenomenon from the perspective of the individuals who have experienced it (Mohajan, 2018). The researcher additionally can collect detailed information about the subject (Levitt et al., 2017).

A quantitative methodology was not selected because it is useful when the focus is on analyzing numerical variables (Apuke, 2017). When using a quantitative method, the researcher tends to interpret the meaning of the numbers rather than the data collected (Aspers & Corte, 2019). The interpretation of the numbers is often mainly against hypothetical premised and hypothesized statements and is not usually based on facts (Becker, 2017); consequently, the quantitative method was not suitable. Mixed methods research was also not suitable because it is the combination of quantitative and qualitative methods with the objective of in-depth understanding and validation (Schoonenboom &

Johnson, 2017). I did not use a mixed-method to conduct this research as it was also time-consuming (McKim, 2017); the quantitative aspect of the mixed method was not suitable, as the aim was to glean a deeper understanding of the phenomenon, which was the exploratory intent of the study.

Research Design

A case study design is appropriate for a qualitative researcher seeking to explore a phenomenon (Bhatta, 2018). Case study research is important for the business marketing research field and is considered an accepted design for the exploration of complex issues (Bartlett & Vavrus, 2017; Harrison et al., 2017). This design helped me explore an organization's business practice based on participants' in-depth perspectives (see Harwati, 2019). With the case study design, researchers share participant interpretation of events, which often also affords a connection needed to generate required research data (Bartlett & Twycross, 2018; Harrison et al., 2017). The rapport created through active listening is important for the researcher in the exploration and discovery process and to ensure that participants share the same understanding of the topic (Mirrick & Wladkowski, 2019). My personal experience in the customer service department of a telecom firm facilitated rapport with participants and contributed to an easier understanding of subject-related data.

The other qualitative research designs were not suitable for the requirements of the explorative and interpretative objective of this study. A phenomenological design was not adequate because it is solely limited to the collection of data from interviews and consists of a description of an experience; a narrative of a phenomenon as it is lived (Manen, 2017a). Using a phenomenological design means the researcher combines raw data collected from the description of the subject participant without attributing any meaning (Manen, 2017b). Additionally, in an ethnographic study, the focus is on the exploration of the beliefs, relationships, and behaviors of culture-sharing groups (Harwati, 2019). Researchers observe people's behavior by engaging with participants in the environment they live in (Smith & Jones, 2017). The grounded theory study design was also not suitable to the study objective, as the aim is not to confirm or to discover an underlying theory with the data collected from a natural setting (Sing & Estefan, 2018). With a grounded theory design, researchers tend to generate descriptive theory (Charmaz, 2017), which was not suitable to fulfill the objective of this study.

In addition to selecting the appropriate design, the process of data validation is contingent on achieving data saturation. Researchers reach data saturation when new information becomes redundant (Saunders et al., 2017). With a case study design, the researcher can achieve data saturation through a rigorous selection of subject matter experts who provide in-depth responses during the interview process (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2018). To mitigate bias in the interpretation of data collected from qualitative research, researchers use triangulation to validate findings by cross-checking different sources (Abdalla et al., 2018, Honorene, 2017). The use of triangulation to improve data accuracy and effectiveness as well as to confirm research findings is a widely accepted technique (Fusch et al., 2018; Varpio et al., 2017).

Population and Sampling

Purposeful sampling was suitable to choose participants for this type of study. In a qualitative research study, researchers generally use purposeful sampling to find and collect information relevant to the issue under study (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). In purposeful sampling, the selected participants are usually subject matter experts who have the required knowledge on the subject and who can provide valuable in-depth knowledge about the topic (Gentles & Vilches, 2017; Yin, 2018). Participants selected through purposeful sampling provide information relevant to the research study and may contribute to a deeper understanding of the phenomenon (Ames et al., 2019). Participants for this study were selected based on purposive or judgmental sampling from predetermined study inclusion criteria. Selected participants provided valuable information not readily accessible from other sources that could contribute to a better understanding of the topic under study.

In the case study, researchers experience difficulties when determining adequate sample size. The research objective should be the researcher's baseline to determine the suitable sample size that can help achieve data saturation (Vasileiou et al., 2018). The researcher's main objective when collecting data is to achieve data saturation which would mean that no further information is needed (Mason, 2017; Saunders et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2020). A sample size of eight to 16 is often convenient to reach data saturation, though a greater number might not provide further information (Hennink et al., 2017). A limited sample size of six participants could be adequate to reach data saturation (Yin, 2018). The sample, drawn purposively form the population for this

research study, consisted of three decision-makers of the major telecommunication firms in Western Senegal. The main objective of this study was to gain insight into the strategies that the selected managers use to successfully retain customers and acquire new clients to increase market share. The rationale behind the limited sample was to spend more time with each participant and thereby gain an in-depth understanding of the topic (Farrugia, 2019). If further information was still needed, I would have called on more qualified participants through snowball sampling and other means to achieve data saturation (Naderifar et al., 2017).

Another consideration was the COVID-19 pandemic, which required that strict protocols be followed; consequently, remote interviews were conducted. Researchers should interview in a comfortable place for participants (Padgett, 2017). To avoid distractions, a professional environment is best suited to conduct interviews (Hagaman & Wutich, 2017). Two of the participants suggested and accepted to conduct the interviews after business hours to avoid distraction, and the third participant proposed to schedule the interview on a Saturday. All three interviews went well without disruption.

Ethical Research

The study participants were requested to set a mutually convenient time and date for the interviews that were conducted remotely using a web-based application such as Skype, Zoom, or similar communication technology. Participants were also asked that interviews be conducted in the office, when possible, to minimize the risk of distractions from family members. There was no risk associated with the interviews conducted in the

office, which is equipped with the necessary protection to safeguard the area. There were some minor discomforts resulting from fatigue and long working hours.

All required protocols were completed before engaging in the study data collection process. The Walden University Institutional Review Board approval of the proposal was the first step before starting the data collection. Once the proposal was approved and before conducting an interview, participants were reminded of the purpose and objectives of the study (see Dooly et al., 2017). Each participant was further provided with an informed consent form for review and their record. Before the meeting, a presentation document was emailed to give participants an overview of what to expect and to help prepare and ask clarifying questions if needed. Through the consent form, participants were also briefed about the objectives and the advantages of the research study as well as the risks and benefits (Agunloye, 2019; Dooly et al., 2017). The participant replied to my email with "I consent" to represent their voluntary agreement to participate in the proposed study (see Dooly et al., 2017). In the consent form, it was specified that interviewees would not receive any incentives for assisting in this study and that participation was voluntary with the option to withdraw anytime. Participants were additionally not required to respond to a question if they found or perceived it as inappropriate.

Study participants were also assured that de-identification of personal identity, including of affiliated institutions, would be followed. De-identification consisted of removing any detail that could link participants to any information. Participants did not provide any information that could jeopardize an existing personal position. De-identified

data puts the researcher in a position to better exploit the data without stress or fear of participants' data breach or loss (Gross & Miller, 2019).

After conducting interviews and gathering information, records and transcripts were kept in a locked safe only accessible to me. To protect the rights of privacy and protect confidentiality of participants, I keep the information in a secured storage requiring access code for a period of 5 years. After the 5 years, all paper files will be shredded and incinerated, while all electronic data will be deleted.

Data Collection Instruments

In a qualitative study, the researcher is often considered the initial data collection instrument (Clark & Veale, 2018; Wa-Mbaleka, 2020; Yin, 2018). Data collection instruments encompass interview guides, interview transcripts, tape recordings, and observations (see Renz et al., 2018). As the initial data collection instrument personally, collecting data about the research study entailed conducting semistructured interviews with the identified leaders of the telecommunication industries. Barrett and Twycross (2018) opined that interviews are considered the most explicit and candid method of collecting informant-rich data about a subject. Using semistructured interviews, the researcher creates a casual environment to make participants feel comfortable and express their personality freely (Barrett & Twycross, 2018).

Further to the interviews, observations and review of applicable organization documents collected from institutional websites were also undertaken. Archival and other organization internal documents are used as basic data collection instruments (Yin, 2018). Different approaches were applied to increase data reliability and validity of the

data collection process and consisted of member-checking to include transcripts and final data analysis interpretation reviews, review of internal documents and marketing materials used during promotional campaigns posted on company websites, and notes taken during interviews.

Collecting data from different sources and archival records may reinforce construct credibility through data triangulation (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The combination of interviews and document review constitutes a standard of practice in case study research and data triangulation (Yin, 2018). The main objective of triangulation is to have a better understanding of the data collected, which facilitates researchers' betterinformed decision making and enhances data validation and reliability (Noble & Heale, 2019). The company standard operating procedures and other archived documents requested from interviewees have served as a baseline to compare with the responses provided by participants during the interviews. Company standard operating procedures encompass key performance indicators and guidelines regarding company expectations from employees in the performance of customer service. These procedures are an effective tool to increase the performance of the personnel (Md Isa et al., 2020). To improve the reliability of the findings of this study, the use of data triangulation involved comparing primary data against company archival documents available online and other secondary data from credible sources.

To focus on the main purpose of the study, I adopted a post-positivist research approach (Yin, 2018) which is deemed to consist of methodological pluralism (May et al., 2017). The researcher uses a post-positivist approach as a strategy to establish a clear

case study protocol with careful consideration of validity, and potential bias and to ensure that all elements of the phenomenon are being measured and adequately described (Yin, 2018). A case study protocol (see Appendix) was prepared with reference to the case study protocol guideline proposed by Baškarada (2014). The use of a case study protocol is a process that helps guarantee the truthfulness of findings by providing a ground rule to follow during data collection and data analysis exercises (Yin, 2018).

After the collection and transcription of data, the first step in the study protocol was to familiarize myself with the data. The process of familiarization consists of repeated readings of the transcripts (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Next to that, a thematic analysis to isolate themes using a process of constant comparison was conducted. The main purpose of thematic analysis is to identify meaningful repetitive information in the qualitative data (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). To ensure quality, different approaches were used including member checking, transcript review, interpretative review with the study participant, and finally triangulation of the study results against other credible sources of secondary data specific to the region and industry.

To further improve the reliability and validity of the data collection instrument, transcript review and member checking were performed. First, a transcript review involved participants in the process of study validation. Researchers enhance the credibility and validity of study findings by requesting participants to review and comment on their interview transcripts (Madill & Sullivan, 2018). Transcripts contents can be confirmed by interviewees to support and validate the plausibility and truthfulness of the information (see Varpio et al., 2017). Interview transcripts were submitted to

participants for review to corroborate or make necessary adjustments where needed to ensure that we had the same viewpoint about the transcript.

Member checking consists of another validation technique, an interpretive summary review that is often used to provide participants with the possibility to review the exactitude of the description of the phenomenon (see Varpio et al., 2017). Member checking was undertaken after the interviews were transcribed, analyzed, and interpreted. Participants in this study received the final interpretation of the transcripts and were given enough time to review and make necessary changes to reflect thoughts and to provide any clarification. Researchers use member checking to gain approval from participants (Smith & McGannon, 2018). Based on the information provided by participants and other documents relevant to the research topic in the proposed study, transcript review, data analysis, and interpretation review were appropriately used.

Data Collection Technique

The objective of the data collection technique was to implement strategies to seek and obtain in-depth data pertinent to the overarching research question, which entailed data and analysis of the strategies that Western Senegal telecom leaders use to retain and acquire new customers. Research data was collected from interviews and secondary sources such as industry trends, telecommunication organizations, and government websites. For a case study, researchers use different forms of documents such as e-mails, memoranda, administrative documents, letters, written reports, and industry reports (Buriro et al., 2017; Yin, 2018). Particinants to this study were marketing managers of major telecommunication companies in Western Senegal who have proven experience in

successfully managing customer service departments. Participants were asked to voluntarily share e-mail messages, reports, administrative documents, and memoranda in direct relation to the subject of study and relevant information that could contribute to a better understanding of the phenomenon. A researcher's main objective in the data collection exercise is to have information that is relevant to the research topic (Sy et al., 2020).

Semistructured interviews were conducted to explore and describe the strategies used by leaders of the telecom industry to retain and acquire new customers. Researchers use semistructured interviews to control discussions and keep the focus on the topic of study while granting participants the possibility to freely express their mind (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). To approach the identified participants, I used the social media LinkedIn and found the profiles of leaders of the Senegalese telecom industry. I sent emails to five identified participants with the script of the study informational contained in the letter, which was in the body of each email, and the informed consent form were included as attachments. The interview process was then planned with the first three managers who responded to the requests by email and expressed their consent to participate. A fourth participant expressed consent to participate, but he was in the middle of a promotional campaign and suggested postponing the interview; I thanked him but did not continue with him. Email is considered an efficient tool to contact and collect data (Fritz & Vandermause, 2017), but it does not generate a 100% response rate (Taherdoost, 2016).

Three decision-makers from the major telecommunication firms were expected to participate in the interviews. Because of the current pandemic situation, the Walden Institutional Review Board has mandated that remote interviews be undertaken; consequently, interviews were conducted using WhatsApp. Different platforms are available in modern advanced technology such as telephone, videoconference, email, and text messages, to remotely conduct interviews and collect data (Schober, 2018). Considering that people have their preferences or comfort of use, I have used the application that worked best for each participant.

From a researcher's perspective, different advantages can be identified in conducting remote interviews. The advantages of telephone or internet application-based interviews are that difficult topics are to discuss; interviews are less time-consuming and they can make some participants more comfortable (see Buriro et al., 2017). When participants have a busy schedule, it could also be easier to organize distance interviews (Fritz & Vandermause, 2017). The disadvantages of remote interviews could be computer malfunctioning, such as slow network connection, cybersecurity breach, call drops, or poor sound quality; all could lead to disconnection and even loss of confidentiality or data (Fritz & Vandermause, 2017). Some participants might not be familiar with the use of such technologies, which can affect their ability to troubleshoot minor glitches that could occur during the interview (Schober, 2018).

To conduct the interviews, working around participant schedules entailed choosing the best time possible for the interviews. Once a mutually acceptable date and time agreement were reached, the interview requirements such as test of recording

equipment was conducted before the start of each interviews. I activated the automatic audio recorder of my personnel laptop to save the conversation on the computer hard drive, but also on an external hard drive dedicated to this research study as a backup. I also used the Olympus (Pearlcorder J300) microcassette recorder to record and save the interviews.

For confidentiality protection, the location of the interview is very important (Oltmann, 2016). A suitable interview environment is important to address the privacy aspect with possible closed doors (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Two of the participants suggested conducting the interviews after office hours and one proposed to interview on a Saturday, which reduced the risk of intrusion. Because the interviews were conducted remotely, accessibility was not an issue. The current world health situation of the pandemic has imposed many restrictions in terms of physical interaction. Social distancing, mask-wearing, and companies' internal procedures are all limiting factors for researchers, and necessitate that interviews be conducted remotely.

The informed consent form previously emailed to participants was reminded before to starting the interviews. A good approach to creating rapport with participants is for a researcher to introduce myself and to remind them of the research topic, the expected length of the interview, and the number of questions (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). It might be important to set a friendly working, yet professional environment, that can bring participants to open up easily to share experiences. Research participants could have a preconception of research in general. Researchers are expected to show appreciation of participant contributions and willingness to participate in a study

(DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Researchers are also expected to quickly build rapport through active listening and respect (Spradley, 2016). My background in the customer service department of a telecom firm facilitated rapport building with participants.

As stated in the informed consent form, every participant was reminded about the reason for recording the interview, which was followed by a request for permission to record. Answers were saved on my personal password-protected laptop with a backup on an external hard drive and a microcassette recorder Pearlcorder J300. Specific words were noted in a booklet for further clarification during follow-up questions. As participants responded, a need for follow-up questions for better understanding and for clarification arose. With follow-up questions, researchers could get in-depth information that was preserved by participants (see Buriro et al., 2017). Before the interviews, participants were requested to provide pertinent organizational archives and other subject-related documents if possible. In this study, and upon request, participants provided me with institutional websites with pertinent data that I later visited.

To conclude the interviews, participants were informed that the interview data analysis report would be emailed to them for review and correction where applicable. To conduct member checking, I performed a transcription of responses to the questionnaire, conducted data analysis, and submitted copies of the summary report to participants for validation and correctness. Member checking supports the validation of information collected but further contributes to improving truthfulness by allowing participants to corroborate or amend the content of a transcript (see Birt et al., 2016). Along with the

transcripts, thank you messages were sent to participants. Gratitude contributes to positive psychological, physical, and social interaction (see Floyd et al., 2018).

Data Organization Technique

Different factors need to be considered in the data organization technique segment of the study; participants' privacy, confidentiality, and rights need to be preserved (Grech, 2018). For accuracy and reliability, data were collected from a variety of sources to conduct this research. Data collected included digital audio recorded during interviews, transcripts from audio recordings, notes taken during interviews, and information from institutions' websites. For appropriate use of the information, the large amount of data collected required good organization (Yin, 2018).

To safeguard the information, a data log was created and maintained on my personal password-protected laptop. As a backup archive system, copies were made on an external hard drive to keep in a safe as well as in cloud storage. To protect the information, data could be preserved in sealed office equipment (Oltmann, 2016). The data log contained original copies of all study materials (recordings, interview transcripts, coded data files, analytical files, and documents collected from institutional websites). To organize the data, labeled entry with the following classification criteria was inserted for each participant: (a) source of the data, (b) data identification, (c) file name, (d) and date of data collection. Computer software Excel Spreadsheet and the qualitative data analysis software NVivo 12 were used to organize and exploit data. NVivo 12 was user-friendly and very interactive. I had trouble using it at first, but with the tutorial and training videos emailed to me by the NVivo team, I was able to use the software with ease. The

qualitative data analysis software NVivo is a good data organization tool that researchers can use to find dominant themes, sub-dominant themes, and threads; NVivo is compatible with a variety of data types (see Dollah et al., 2017).

To prevent or minimize privacy risks to participants, a process of de-identification was instituted before the analysis process and consisted of removing personal information components that could lead to the identification of a participant. Identification numbers were assigned to reference interviewees in the data and analysis files. In accordance with Walden University doctoral study procedures, raw data will be maintained in a safe for 5 years. After 5 years from the completion date of the study, all paper documents will be shredded, and electronic copies will be deleted.

Data Analysis

The main purpose of data analysis is to scan through the interview answers to find relevant themes and codes that respond to the central research question (Yin, 2018). The major themes of this study, such as offer, promotion, satisfaction, *etc.*, were searched in the interview transcripts. To have thoroughly analyzed data, a researcher needs to produce a meticulous transcript that accurately reflects responses to the semistructured interviews. Identified themes and categories in the interview transcripts were organized to understand the variety of information provided by the different participants and personally sourced. Researchers often conduct qualitative data analysis by describing the relationship between categories and themes of data collected. Qualitative data analysis usually involves sorting and organizing data into themes and codes (see Nowell et al., 2017). The main research topic consisting of analyzing the strategies that telecom leaders

in Western Senegal use to retain existing customers and acquire new clients was the basis for efficient identification and sorting of themes. The more a researcher understands the research topic the better the themes are recognized, facilitating an increased convergence of data findings (Yin, 2018). In the process of analysis of the phenomenon under study, a researcher needs to always recall the research question to remember the "why" of the research (Yin, 2018).

With the understanding that the purpose of the analysis is to find themes that fall under the umbrella of the central research question, an alignment of the analyzed data with the customer retention management conceptual framework was performed. For the qualitative researcher, the conceptual framework serves as a bridge between literature review and study findings (Borrego et al., 2014). Because data collected was mainly text-based from interview transcripts, an important aspect of the data analysis was the coding process. The first step of the data analysis for this qualitative case study was coding. Coding combines two methods that consist of inductive and deductive or open coding (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019). An inductive category formed from the raw material is very effective for qualitative content analysis. Inductive coding includes the identification of concepts and themes that emerge during the review of collected data; it is used in research studies that do not have pre-conceived theories, which seek to explain the topic under study (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019).

The deductive or open coding was primarily used to identify codes for a better understanding of data collected from interviews and other archival documents. The identified codes expectedly facilitated the segregation of keywords and themes in line

with the conceptual framework and the research sub-questions of the study. Collingridge et al. (2019) used open coding to identify themes and relevant concepts. Word-for-word transcription was conducted as suggested by Barrett and Twycross (2018) who posited that researchers need to finalize the word-for-word transcription before they can start data analysis.

The following key themes were searched in the review of the literature, in the selected conceptual framework, and the analysis of interview transcripts: *Service quality, listening to customers, satisfaction, loyalty, consumer expectation, retention, and response strategies.* Because themes derived from document review and interview data, using open coding served to apply the theory of data triangulation. Researchers collect information from different sources to enforce the validity and the interpretation of the data collected (Fusch et al., 2018).

The logical and sequential process for the data analysis was based on O'Connor and Gibson's (2003) five-step process, notably in: (a) organizing the data, (b) finding and organizing ideas and concepts, (c) building over-arching themes in the data, (d) ensuring reliability and validity in the data analysis and in the findings, (e) seeking possible and plausible explanations of the findings.

Step 1: Organizing the Data

Data was organized so that answers to the research question could be quickly found, files were labeled using a coding system unique to each participant and data source. For satisfactory data organization, Yin (2018) suggested that a researcher refers to the interview guide. In this study, data grouping mainly included interview transcripts,

notes of observations, and published and non-published documents. The efficient organization and management of data collected ensured a better understanding and application of the lens of the underlying theory, which represents the conceptual framework of this research study.

Step 2: Finding and Organizing Ideas and Concepts

The interview guide was accepted as a valuable resource to organize data collected during the interview. The collection and organization of empirical data are fundamental in the process of the qualitative research study (see Espejo et al., 2017). To find and organize data, the iterative process of continuously going back to the original research question was practiced. The iterative process allows the researcher to find congruence between responses and the research questions (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017).

At this stage, coding for ideas and concepts that emerged from the framework was performed. The process of coding consists for the research to continuously navigate between the raw data and the meaning made from the data (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019). Coding constitutes a tool for the researcher to give meaning to the data in a descriptive or interpretive manner (Clark & Veale, 2018). NVivo serves as an appropriate tool in the process of manually generating codes and themes (see Dollah et al., 2017). NVivo software and Excel were used to perform the sorting and analysis of data collected from interviews and other subject-matter documents, but primarily because NVivo has features that offer the possibility to transcribe directly from audio files.

Step 3: Building Over-arching Themes in the Data

At this stage, scanning for words or phrases frequently used by all participants in a particular question was performed throughout the different files and data. Researchers frequently use codes to define conceptual over-arching categories found both within and across different data sources, but that mainly provide meaningful responses to research questions (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Once participant answers the research question and provide insights and perspectives, the thematic analysis was used to classify emerging themes and ideas. A code is of importance for the analysis when it is recurrent throughout the data (Hennink et al., 2017).

NVivo was used to organize data because of the different features. NVivo offers the possibility to transcribe directly from audio, analyze, code data sources, and capture ideas. Researchers across different disciplines have used NVivo to go through the analysis. Dr. Badur (2018) has used NVivo to strengthen qualitative research into improving education for Indonesia's 50 million-plus students. NVivo is used to facilitate the identification of themes from a variety of data sources, and can also improve rigor and transparency in the triangulation process (see Dalkin, et al., 2021). Other software in the market are Dedoose, ATLAS.ti, MAXQDA or QDAMiner, but none offers the efficiency of NVivo.

Step 4: Ensuring Reliability and Validity in the Data Analysis and in the Findings

To ensure reliability and validity, each of the response categories provided by participants had one or more associated themes that could provide a deeper meaning to the data. Different categories could be collapsed under one main overarching theme.

Researchers achieve accuracy and trustworthiness by establishing data reliability and validity (Cypress, 2017). The credibility of data is paramount to the use of research findings for business practice (Candela, 2019).

Step 5: Finding Possible and Plausible Explanations of the Findings

The process of interpretation includes the researcher's understanding of a topic and the data analysis (Yin, 2018). Data were organized in a sequential manner to evaluate each interview answer; a file dedicated to each interviewee was created and data was stored in the order they were collected. An indexed (alphabetical) sequential file system was used to quickly access information when needed. Manual and cognitive interpretation was performed; the most important tool for a researcher is his mind (Yin, 2018).

Reliability and Validity

Researchers have explored the reliability and validity of qualitative data to establish the truthfulness of research findings (Mohajan, 2017). The use of a structured questionnaire in the qualitative study has been a way for researchers to collect primary data from relevant sources (Chumba et al., 2019). Truthfulness is the cornerstone of data findings; researchers should have a mechanism to assess the validity and reliability of collected information. Member checking and triangulation are considered valid assessment tools (Yin, 2018). Reliability and validity should be the basis of any qualitative research and be considered in all phases of a study (Cypress, 2017). Data collected from a variety of sources could contribute to improving the validity and reliability of research findings (Mohajan, 2017).

Reliability

Reliability, replicability, and consistency can be associated; findings are said to be reliable if the same study was to be performed a second time and the results remained constant (Yin, 2018). To ensure dependability, member checking with each participant was conducted as well as triangulation through cross-checking different data sources. In the proposed study, following Marshall and Rossman's (2016) guideline entailed a sequential process of conducting interviews, transcribing, interpreting data collected and sharing the interpretation of the data collected with participants for confirmation.

Member checking contributes to confirming research findings (Cypress, 2017).

To further ensure reliability and accuracy, different data sources were crossreferenced and analyzed, representing the triangulation of data in the proposed study.

Triangulation is the fact of incorporating and corroborating data from different sources
(Alami et al., 2019). Researchers use triangulation to increase data reliability and
accuracy (see Ghazi et al., 2018). Among the different forms of triangulation,
methodological triangulation from a comprehensive list of sources was used in this study.

The main sources that were used to conduct methodological triangulation consisted of
semistructured interviews, archival data from companies' websites, industry trends,
reports from public websites, and notes taken during interviews. The diversity of data
sources is a method for the researcher to increase the validity and reliability of findings
(Fusch et al., 2018). Triangulation is associated with accuracy; data collected from
various sources is more reliable than information from one single data source (see Varpio
et al., 2017).

Validity

Validity and reliability are good indicators of quality for research, but there is no common agreement on how to determine validity in qualitative studies (see Hayashi et al., 2019). Researchers can establish the validity of data findings by addressing the credibility aspect of the research. The qualitative research study is said to be of quality when the conditions of credibility, dependability, transferability, confirmability, and reflexibility are all met (Korstjen & Moser, 2018). To ensure credibility, member checking and triangulation throughout the data collection process represented a way of confirming the information collected. Credibility reflects the researcher's analysis method but also the relevance of the data collected (Thomas, 2017). The study findings need to be credible for a study conclusions to benefit organizations (Candela, 2019). The process was also invoked in offering them an opportunity to review the final interpretation of the data after the analysis through member checking. (Madill & Sullivan, 2018) posited that to ensure credibility, participants are asked to review and validate the researcher's transcript of the information collected.

To further ensure credibility, triangulation was adopted to verify the consistency of findings from the different sources used to gather data. Triangulation is considered a necessary tool to increase credibility and truthfulness (see Varpio et al., 2017). Data collected from interviews and confirmed with member checking notes taken, and other relevant documents and industry annual reports were all used during the triangulation process to confirm data accuracy and increase credibility. The diversity of data sources is

an indicator of trustworthiness and credibility for qualitative research (see Abdalla et al., 2018).

Transferability is another important aspect of research as it often contributes to the current body of knowledge. Transferability is the degree to which a research finding can be replicated in a different setting and still be applicable (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Semistructured interviews that allow participants to provide an in-depth description of the phenomenon under study were the main data collection technique for this study. A detailed explanation of the steps taken in this research study and the different contexts were annotated to allow readers and future researchers to apply the techniques in similar settings or circumstances. To provide meaningful substance to readers and future researchers, transferability should involve much more than participants' description of the phenomenon under study to include the context of the study (Korstjens & Moser, 2018).

Methodological triangulation was also used to address and enhance confirmability. Triangulation is used to corroborate diverse sources and contributes to determining data trustworthiness and confirmability (Abdalla et al., 2018). To address confirmability, I reviewed the different recorded interviews as well as notes taken and confirm information collected through member checking. Member checking is a strategy for a researcher to avoid interpretation and to report information as described by participants while minimizing reporting bias (see Abedini et al., 2018).

Data saturation is reached when all participants tend to provide similar responses to a given question (Tran et al., 2017). Researchers could ensure data saturation by

following the same strict interview protocol with all participants (Fusch et al., 2017). To ensure data saturation, I verified that no new information emerges after undertaking comprehensive interviews. Reference to the interview protocol helped ensure consistency; additionally, data from credible industry sources served the objective of triangulation and presented findings pursuant to holistic analysis.

Transition and Summary

The intent of this single case study was to explore the strategies that telecom leaders in Western Senegal use to retain existing customers and acquire new clients. In section 1, a narrative of the background of the problem is presented to describe the foundation of the topic, with the description of the problem statement and purpose statement, as further detail to the research topic. A brief rationalization of the suitability of the method and research design was covered in the nature of the study section to provide the reader with an understanding of the research rationale and strategy. The interview questions are further listed and framed, to aid in the identification of the specific areas of the topic that participants responded to, as the goal was to elicit detailed participant insights in understanding the topic and phenomenon. The conceptual framework served to ground the study and as a lens to the research, while the operational definitions helped to contextualize and clarify specific words that were discussed. Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations were developed to denote the boundaries of the study. The significance of the study was analyzed to explain the importance of the research and its benefit to the industry. A thorough review of professional and academic

literature was also conducted in section 1 to provide a synthesis of past research findings on the same topic.

In section 2, the details included a summary of the purpose statement, followed by an analysis of the role of the researcher and the participants selection process. The research methods and research design, population, and sampling are analyzed to ensure that collected data would contribute to answering the research question. To adhere to the standard of conduct as a researcher, the process entailed the development of the different topics of ethical research and a listing of the data collection instruments. A thorough description of the techniques used to collect data (data collection techniques) and the techniques to organize data (data organization techniques) that were further analyzed (data analysis) for reliability and validity was performed, to finally concluded with a transition and summary.

In section 3, the details provided included a discussion on this qualitative single case study outcomes to analyze the influence of such findings in the existing literature and the way findings can be applied to the telecommunication industry, as well as the implications for positive social change. The recommendations for action were provided by stating who specifically could benefit from the findings, but also recommendations for future researchers who could address the limitations identified in this study. A reflection on personal experience within the DBA Doctoral Study process was presented before offering a strong conclusion statement as a take-away message for the reader.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain customers, acquire new clients, and ensure a sustained increase in market share. Semistructured interviews were virtually conducted using WhatsApp with three marketing managers of the three major telephone companies who have implemented successful strategies to retain customers and increase market share. The collected data resulted in the identification of three overarching themes. The three managers' insistence on the importance of promotions to enhance customer satisfaction and retention confirmed the relevance of the customer retention management theory initially postulated by Dawkins and Reichheld (1990) as a suitable lens to serve as the conceptual framework for this study.

In Section 3, I present the findings and the potential applications for professional practice. The different implications for social change and recommendations for action are further discussed. A list of recommendations for further studies that derived from the analysis of findings are also provided in order of importance. I further share a reflection on my experience during this DBA study journey, personal biases or preconceived ideas, values, and the way this journey affected or re-shaped my vision of business practice. A final statement for future researchers and business leaders interested in this research concludes this research.

Presentation of the Findings

The main source of data collection consisted of interviews of three marketing managers from the major telecom firms in Western Senegal and public records from the following institutional websites: (a) The telecommunications and postal regulatory authority (www.artp.sn) as the telecommunications and postal regulator with a role of surveillance and regulation of the telecommunication industry sector, (b) the national agency for statistics and demography (www.ansd.sn) that is responsible for ensuring the technical coordination of the activities of the national statistical system. Information garnered from the websites was ere pertinent to the research study.

Each of the three senior-level marketing managers participated in a virtual semistructured interview to respond to the overarching research question: What strategies do mobile telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain customers and acquire new clients. Confidentiality of participants was maintained using codes AXP1, AXP2, and AXP3 to identify participants during the process of transcription. Data saturation was reached when information was becoming redundant after I performed triangulation to validate findings by cross-referencing different data sources (see DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2018). The interview guide was of great support in the process of finding ideas and concepts. Using VoiceTyper dictation software I performed a transcription of the interviews and further used NVivo 12 to run word frequency query to generate word clouds that reflect the most used words by all participants (see Figure 1). I identified three major themes pertinent to the central research question and the conceptual framework: (a) importance of data, (b) adaptive

marketing as customer retention technique, and (c) promotional campaign strategies to increase market share.

Figure 1

Word Cloud Density



Theme 1: Importance of Data

All three participants labeled customer data as the most valuable resource in the execution of business strategies. Data collection constitutes the foundation on which promotional campaign activities are built and is paramount to the success of a campaign. Data collected from customers are processed and translated into valuable information used by marketing leaders to make strategic decisions. The theme of the importance of data emanated from Interview Questions 8, 10, and 11 (see Table 2). The participants emphasized the importance of data in promotional campaigns which is displayed in the word cloud (see Figure 2). Through CRM, firm leaders collect valuable information from customers in the form of feedback, which could serve decision-makers to identify areas of improvement to enhance service offerings and customer retention (Chahal & Bala,

2017). Social media platforms are also used by company leaders and customers to communicate and interact (Guha et al., 2018).

Table 2

Importance of Data

Participant responses	Dominant emergent themes	Interpretation and analysis
AXP1: We administer the same questionnaire to every phone user to obtain the NPS of each company. For example, in the questionnaire we ask the number of SIM cards a customer has, from which company, what specific service they use (data, voice,), how much money spend per Month.	Data collection	From the dominant themes, data collection constitutes the foundation on which promotional campaign activities are built; it is paramount to the success of a campaign. Data collected from customers is processed and translated into
AXP1: The collected data will allow us to make an informed decisions and to know the		valuable information used by marketing leaders to make
best strategy to meet customer expectations and satisfaction. Face to face interaction being the best way to get customer voice, the information is collected by the customer experience team during field surveys. The information collected contribute to the implementation of a successful promotional campaign.	Data interpretation	strategic marketing decisions.
AXP2: We have a dedicated team that collects customer feedbacks, we also do community management through social networks and a hotline that is outsourced for the time being; the information collected allow us to improve customer experience.	Data Collection	
AXP3: We have a team of competitive intelligence; they monitor all the signals about the strategies of the competition. We have data mining tools of advanced statistics that allow us to see the potential of each customer. This information is processed by data analysts who model the information and give us the future potential of each customer. Based on this information we can know the type of product we can offer to the customer.	Market intelligence Data analysis	

Note. NPS = net promoter score

Theme 1 was in line with the customer retention management theory as the conceptual framework for this study, as information collected through the CRM team or customer experience team may provide hints to service providers for product improvement. To be effective and stay competitive, marketing department managers must constantly monitor blogs and social media to collect customers' impressions and needs (Dalziel & Klerk, 2020). Organization leaders are increasingly aware of the importance of social media and the contribution faster customer engagement and timely collaboration between a company and its customers (Kalani et al., 2018). Social media platforms are considered effective tools to improve companies' strategies to retain existing customers and to acquire new clients (Barros et al., 2017). Although social media platforms are considered valuable tools to collect customer data, all three managers agreed on the fact that field survey provides salient information they need to take action and establish a solid strategy. A field survey is the best strategy to know true customer expectations.

Figure 2
Word Cloud Density of Importance of Data



Theme 2: Adaptive Marketing as Customer Retention Technique

An adaptive marketing strategy supports a company in a changing market environment by tailoring products and services to meet customer expectations (Guo et al., 2018). In the context of adaptive marking, organization leaders go beyond reacting to customer needs to spot customers unexpressed or implicit needs to propose unknown desired products and services. The tailored product offering is performed using behavioral advertising (Varnali, 2019), which is based on the monitoring and analysis of customer online activities (Mpinganjjra & Maduku, 2019). Fast customer feedback is also important for a company to provide the customer with a timely and suitable response. The theme of adaptive marketing (see Figure 3) as customer retention technique appeared from Interviews Questions 1,2, and 3 and helped to answer to the central research question of this study (see Table 3).

Table 3Adaptive Marketing as Customer Retention Technique

Participant responses	Dominant emergent themes	Interpretation and analysis
AXP1: The CRM team identifies	Retention technique	Respondents acknowledged the
four major segments, and also		importance of adaptive
uses some predictive analytical		marketing to quickly meet
tools to target potential churning		customer expectations and
customers to implement action-		achieve customer retention.
reaction strategies to retain them		Organization leaders go beyond
by following specific scenarios		reacting to customer demands to
to propose tailored offerings.		spot customers unexpressed or
		implicit needs to propose
AXP1: After collecting	Adaptive offering	customer's unknown desired
information about customer		products and services
profiles, we create a		
personalized offer to meet the		
expectations of the customer.		
AXP2: Using differentiation	Personalized offer	
strategy techniques, the company		
can focus on a specific segment		
of the market to create a		
personalized offer to meet		
customer expectations.		
AXP3: We elaborate a specific	Stimulate customer consumption	
marketing strategy for a given		
customer. If the customer is used		
to buying 1000 CFA (local		
currency) of airtime for, we can		
offer advantages that lead them		
to purchase 1500 CFA worth of		
airtime recharge. For example		
we offer them to spend 1500		
CFA to participate in a drawing		
with a chance of winning a prize		
or some advantage, etc. The idea		
is to stimulate the customer to		
spend more than usual.		

Note. CRM = customer relationship management

Based on participant responses, to achieve customer satisfaction, marketing leaders generally use market segmentation to offer tailored products and services (Bruwer et al., 2017). CRM entails personalizing service offerings to increase customer loyalty (Mohanty & Das, 2017; Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). For example, AXP1 suggested that "The CRM team conducts a daily management of customer base by monitoring specific segments of the market as well as customer behavior." To establish retention strategies, telecom leaders can research historic data and information about the primary reasons that have resulted in customer churn and strive to improve the quality-of-service offerings (Ascarza, 2017). AXP1 explained that "The CRM team runs some predictive analytical tools to target potential churning customers to implement action-reaction strategies to retain them by following specific scenarios to propose tailored offerings."

The theme of adaptive marketing as a customer retention technique is consistent with Dawkins and Reichheld's (1990) customer retention management theory. The three managers acknowledged adaptive marketing as a technique to quickly meet customer satisfaction and reach customer retention. As described in the literature review, customer retention is the foundation of sustainable competitive advantage and profitability, a strategy used by firm leaders to protect market share from the competition (Hawkins & Hoon, 2019). Firm leaders use customer retention techniques to avoid a decrease in market share consequence of customer churn (Ascarza et al., 2018). With the development of new technologies, digital and social media have become the new tools to run promotional campaigns, offering options to deliver quicker and personalized

messages (Cole et al., 2017). To acquire a leadership position, company managers should keep aware of new technologies and be prompt to use them in marketing and for customer outreach (Hadi et al., 2019).

Figure 3

Word Cloud Density of Adaptive Offering on Customer Retention



Theme 3: Promotional Campaign Strategies to Increase Market Share

All three marketing managers agreed that a promotional campaign is important to customer satisfaction; it is a technique used to achieve customer retention and increase market share. The more customers are satisfied with a loyalty program, the longer they stay with the company, which may improve company sustainability (Bahri-Ammari & Bilgihan, 2019). Although the three managers acknowledged the pertinence of promotional campaigns in companies' overall strategy to achieve customer satisfaction, each company has a different approach. The theme of promotional campaign strategies to increase market share (see Figure 4) emanated from Interview Questions 9, 10, and 12 (see Table 4).

Table 4Promotional Campaign Strategies to Increase Market Share

Participant responses	Dominant emergent themes	Interpretation and analysis
AXP1: The success of the campaigns will mainly depend on customer experience and the loyalty program the company is using to retain them. If the customer perceives a "wow" effect during the test and the experience is memorable, then it will have a positive impact and they become promoters of the product, which helps the company increase the NPS.	Positive experience	Leaders consider a promotion campaign as a must, a positive customer experience as an outcome of a promotion campaign may positively contribute to customer acquisition and retention and may lead to an increase in market share.
AXP1: There is a correlation between the NPS, the CES, and the company revenue. NPS and CES are closely tied to the Key Performance Indicator set by the company as a measure of achievement. When the KPI grows, the revenue will grow accordingly which reflects an increase in the market share.	effect of customer satisfaction on market share	
AXP2: promotion in the Senegalese telecom industry is a must; company leaders who do not run promotions will fail We inform customers by sponsoring a television or radio show, but we mainly utilize SMS which is the best tool to reach customers.	Importance of Promotion campaign	
AXP3: We continuously try to surprise the customer, to provide things that they did not expect, and to offer unforgettable experiences that produce a wow effect. It is the way we can build customer loyalty and win the heart of the customer. To meet customer satisfaction, we initiate loyalty programs to surprise customers and offer them a memorable experience.	Positive experience	
APX3: To increase our market share, we are obligated to run retort campaigns to offer customers the opportunity to compare with competitors Promotional campaigns allow us to identify customer expectations and identify the right time and place. These are non-stop campaigns.	Promotion as a competition tool	

Note. NPS = net promoter score, CES = customer effort score, and KPI = key performance indicator.

The notion of net promoter score is important to marketing department leaders as it is considered a significant indicator of customer loyalty and company growth prospect (Kristensen & Eskildsen, 2014). The CES on the other hand is an estimation of the level of efforts that a customer deploys to access a company product or to find a solution to a problem. As discussed in the literature review, CES is defined by company responsiveness, which is the company's eagerness to address customers 'requests and to provide fast service (Setiawan & Sayuti, 2017). Responsiveness is among the main dimensions of service quality that can lead to customer satisfaction and to customer loyalty (Demir, 2017, 2019). APX3 stated:

We have high-value customers who like to have quality, they are customers who do not need promotions, they expect specific support and they want to be assisted so that they do not have to worry about service disruption. The satisfaction of our high profile customers is quality related.

Promotional strategy is considered central to the understanding of the dynamic of customer acquisition and retention (Yahya et al., 2019). To run a successful campaign, firm leaders should be consistent with the nature of the message delivered and should convey the same information across the different mediums (Kaczorowska-Spychalska, 2017). The theme of promotional campaign strategies to increase market share is coherent with the conceptual framework of customer retention management. The longer a customer stays with the company, the more they buy company products and may bring in new customers through positive word-of-mouth (Ang & Butler, 2005). In community markets such as the Senegalese telecom industry, word-of-mouth information is a

significant promotion tool to acquire new customers (Dadzie et al., 2017). Word-of-mouth plays an important role in new customers' decision to choose a service provider (Yaman, 2018). All three marketing leaders agreed on the existence of different other reasons to run promotion campaigns.

Awareness Campaign

Companies launch awareness campaigns to inform customers of new products or when new features are added to existing products. All three company leaders use pull/push marketing strategies to an extent, but the implementation of a push marketing strategy requires some significant logistics investment that only larger companies can afford; but it is accepted as an effective marketing strategy to raise awareness and motivate purchase intentions (Makrides et al., 2019). Participants AXP1 and AXP2 mainly use pull marketing strategies by offering important discounts such as buy one get one free on SIM cards or incremental discounts on airtime purchases that can go from one hundred to five hundred percent. AXP3 referred to retort campaign as a strategy to raise awareness, as a strategy of retention and increase of market share.

Promotion Through Distributors

Distributors are the link between firms and final users, they play an important role in the management of the process of distribution to the end-user. All three participants highlighted the role of distributors in their respective promotion campaigns. As illustrated by AXP1:

We inform our distributors two days before the promotion, it allows them to stock up on airtime cards before the promotion day, that way they do not run out of airtime the day of the promotion. Our distributors and the competition play a great part in our decision to run a promotion campaign.

AXP2 added that "to get the distributors to put our products forward, we offer them incremental incentives; the more they sell the more they make." When Firm leaders share company values and trust with distributors, the company-distributors relationship could become stronger and could benefit both parties (Bhattacharya, 2019).

Financial Environment

All three managers also mentioned the financial environment as a trigger factor for promotional campaigns. When the money transfer service environment is changing with lower transfer rates, or when a new money transfer service provider enters the market with low offers, people tend to make extensive money transfers. Since money transfers are performed over data; money transfers are opportunities for phone service providers to run a promotion campaign; consequently, customers will buy airtime (data) to use for the transactions. This statement does not hold true for all service providers; phone companies that offer money transfer options do not require their customers to use data to conduct a transfer transaction, customer use a dial code instead.

Religious and Social Gathering

Senegal is known for large religious events (Magal, Gamou, Popenguine ...); those are pilgrimage moments that last days and gather millions of people in a city.

Telecom service providers deploy large equipment to satisfy communication needs but also run extensive retention and acquisition campaigns. The events are opportunities for companies to boost sales and promote products.

For regular promotions, all three participants agreed that to make a greater impact, it is better to run promotion campaigns during the first 10 days of the Month; this is because people are paid on a monthly basis. Smaller companies do not want to be confrontational with larger firms, they try to avoid days that the larger companies run promotion campaigns. To avoid being confrontational, smaller company leaders have a dedicated team to monitor larger companies' frequency of promotion.

All three participants propounded the pertinence of promotion campaigns and associated loyalty programs to customer retention and loyalty. The different loyalty programs such as incremental bonuses and other discounts are meant to build a strong relationship with customers and to increase customer loyalty. Company leaders who can implement successful loyalty programs to improve customer retention may benefit from a long-lasting commitment (Srivastava & Rai, 2018). Loyal customers become promoters of company products by spreading positive word-of-mouth, which may bring in new customers that generates an increase of firm market share. Loyal customers are satisfied customers who tend to repeat purchase of company products (Islam et al., 2020). This statement ties in with the customer retention management conceptual framework and the literature review performed in section 1 of this research study.

The importance of promotion campaigns and the protection of consumers led the government to put in place an agency regulator called Agency for the Regulation of Telecommunications and Posts. Every month, telecommunication firms are required to submit a monthly promotion plan that outlines the days and forms of promotion they intend to run. Consequently, companies do not have a choice of changing option or

orientation once the plan is submitted and approved. If any problem arises during a campaign, the only option they have is to note the issue and make changes during the next promotion.

Figure 4

Word Cloud Density of Effect of Promotion Campaigns to Increase Market Share



Applications to Professional Practice

In this single case research study, I analyzed the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal, Africa use to retain customers and acquire new clients. The business ramifications for companies' leaders who can succeed in customer retention and acquisition are countless. While managing customer retention constitutes a real challenge to companies' executives, CRM leaders as well as academics have long agreed on its crucial impact on business success (Ascarza et al., 2018). Information pertinent to this study was mainly collected from virtual semistructured interviews of three leaders of the telecom industry with successful experience in implementing

strategies to ameliorate customer retention. Participants also, upon request, provided corporate and government websites that I visited to have a visual of promotion materials and other relevant documents such as quarterly and annual reports. The outcome of this research study may provide pertinent information to marketing leaders of the telecommunication industry to contrive successful strategies for customer acquisition and retention. The study findings may aid telecommunication managers with the knowledge to improve service quality in the continuous quest to increase customer satisfaction and loyalty.

Participants of this study emphasized the importance of customer satisfaction and loyalty that may result in positive word-of-mouth and an increase of market share. Loyal customers play an important role in the process of firm strategy design and products promotions. The findings of this study are in line with the customer retention management theory conceptual framework postulated by Dawkins and Reichheld (1990) who contended that a surge in customer retention rate directly translates into an increase in customer value. Company leaders might consider customer retention as a direct result of customer satisfaction and a possible outcome of an increase in sponsorship (Okonkwo et al., 2020).

Theme 1 of the data analysis indicated the importance of customer data in the execution of business strategies. Participants concurred on the use of surveys, focus group, and social media platforms to collect customer responses. Feedback collected in the form of data is treated and translated into valuable information that telecom leaders utilize to make strategic decisions. Loyal customers are often eager to provide valuable

feedbacks that may be used by service providers to offer tailored products (Bijmolt et al., 2018). The application of findings to business practice may be the understanding of the necessity for marketing department managers to constantly monitor blogs and social media to collect customers impressions and needs (Dalziel & Klerk, 2020).

The second theme that emerged from the data analysis highlighted the significance of adaptive marketing as customer retention technique from an attempt to deliver personalized products. Data collected (theme 1) provide insights that leaders use to elaborate adaptive marketing techniques. The application of findings to business practice may consist for leaders to have a better understanding of customer information and how customer feedback can be used to improve or personalize products to achieve customer satisfaction and retention. Leaders may recognize the importance of open communication between the company and its clients through social media and the way the interaction may enhance company overall appreciation and increase of firm revenue (Arnaboldi et al., 2017).

The data analysis performed during this research study revealed a trilogy of: (a) collect of information (Theme 1), (b) elaboration of personalized responses in form of new or improved products (Theme 2), and (c) promotion to inform and raise awareness (Theme 3). The goal of this research study was to contribute to the strategies of customer acquisition and retention. From the study findings, leaders of the telecommunication industry may find practical the different strategies garnered in the course of this research to either develop new strategies or apply these strategies to increase customer retention and improve business performance.

Implications for Social Change

This research study consisted of analyzing the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain customers, acquire new clients and ensure sustained business performance. Findings of this research may provide avenues for telecom leaders to establish successful customer retention strategies that may increase firm revenues and assure long term business sustainability. From the findings of this study, the contributions to positive social change may include an increase in company market share and revenues. The ensuing gains and prosperity may manifest in increased contributions to the local community consisting of tax fees to pay to the local authorities; money that could be used to improve public infrastructures. The study results and knowledge may also contribute to the community welfare, especially in tandem with a laudable corporate social responsibility policy, while such efforts assuredly will have a positive effect on social change and community prosperity.

The unemployment rate in Senegal was exacerbated by the covid-19 pandemic to a record high of 23.4% compared to 16.7% the previous year (National agency for Statistics and Demography, 2020). The study contribution for social change could be that an increase of company revenues translates into job security for the employees but also employment opportunity for more people. In Senegal, telecom firms have a variety of sub-contractors who may benefit from an increase of promotion activities: (a) Printing houses that produce flyers, billboards, and other promotion materials used in the course of promotional campaigns will experience an increase of activity that will lead them to hire more people, (b) distributors of air time may benefit from an increase in telecom firm

activities, (c) call centers and outside telecom consulting firms might all experience an increase of activities due to higher demand from growing company activities. The ramifications of the study of customer retention and acquisition go beyond firm sustainability to include employee satisfaction, community development, and its constituents.

Recommendations for Action

The study findings may be valuable to telecom marketing managers who may use the results to initiate successful customer acquisition and retention strategies. With sustainability in mind, business leaders' overall strategy is aimed at maintaining a steady increase of revenues collected from a loyal customer base. The goal of organization leaders is to make a profit from a systematically well-organized and coordinated series of activities (Desrocher, 2010). To realize such an objective, managers need to achieve customer satisfaction and retention since loyal customers constitute the company's revenue generators. Consequently, my first recommendation would be for marketing leaders to empower the CRM team. The CRM team should be considered not merely as a data-driven service center, but an entity able to elaborate conclusive strategies that go beyond data collected for a blunt needs analysis to become a unit that builds a fostered trust-based relationship with customers. The CRM could incorporate the sales team to build and nurture a strong relationship with customers, which would alleviate the Customer Effort Score (CES) with the positive consequence of improving the customer net promoter score.

All participants mentioned the notion of KPI as a tool to measure the success of promotional campaigns. Although commendable, a KPI is only focused on the measure of predetermined quantitative objectives; and could miss pertinent information that might be used to improve a company's strategy. To fill the gap, my second recommendation would be for leaders to consider adopting the CRM balanced scorecard (CRM BSC). The notion of a CRM scorecard will entail focusing the scorecard on the core functions and processes of CRM, namely: promotion and marketing, sales, and customer service. By doing so, leaders could establish a control system that will provide performance measures but also reveal shortcomings. To obtain the required involvement and efficacy from the personnel, my third recommendation would be to train the CRM team to level up to the new CRM BSC design requirement and expectations through continuous improvement.

My last recommendation would be for leaders to consider training the independent distributors to embrace the culture of the company. Promotors are already companies' partners, leaders could promote loyalty initiatives through distributors. When Firm leaders share company values and trust with distributors, the company-distributors relationship could become stronger and could benefit both parties (Bhattacharya, 2019).

Recommendations for Further Research

The analysis of the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain customers and acquire new clients provided compelling insights and directions. The Senegalese telecommunications market is very dynamic; mergers and acquisitions as well as the arrival of new investors are regularly observed. Based on the ARTP 2019 annual report in its June 2020 edition, there were three major

players in the mobile telecommunication industry in Senegal: (a) Sonatel S.A. with a market share of 53.55%, (b) Saga Africa Holdings Limited with a market share of 26.43%, and (c) Expresso Senegal with a market share of 20.02%. Following a call for applications and to promote the development of the electronic communications sector, the Senegalese authorities have granted access licenses to three companies to invest in the mobile virtual network. In 2020, there were 351 suppliers registered with the ARTP and the sector is constantly evolving. The market for mobile virtual networks that provides value-added services (NVS) is an area of interest and could be a good area of study for further research.

From the study outcomes, the recommendations for actions were provided that could inspire leaders to improve current strategies. The results also indicated the need for further research that could include a review of the limitations of the study, or an exploration of possible aspects of value creation not addressed in this research, such as the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in the telecommunications sector. In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, travel has been restricted due to lockdown policies around the world; consequently, people relied on digital communications for work, entertainment, or simply to communicate with relatives. The contribution of the telecommunications industry to Senegalese economic growth is considerable; the turnover of the sector increased by 4.46%, investments increased by 71%, and job creation increased by 22.8% from the previous year (ARTP, 2020). Increased investment in equipment is an opportunity for telecom companies to improve the quality of service offered by faster and more reliable networks, which in turn may create a more demanding type of customer

who knows how to seize the opportunity offered by strong competition. The future is bright for service providers, the post-covid-19 pandemic has reshaped the way businesses are run; telecommunications will likely be at the center of the change in the future.

Companies that can provide reliable service and a flawless security system will expectedly be the winners. The study of the level of security provided by the service provider could be an interesting topic for future researchers.

This study was limited to Western Senegal which represents only 23% of the Senegalese population and 0.28% of the national territory (ARTP, 2020). Further study could be conducted in other regions of Senegal that would cover a longer time, a broader geographic area, and include a larger population sample. The profile of participants was a limited to the possibility of accessing valuable information available to personnel who did not fit the profile of the target population; further research could address the limitation consisting of the profile of interviewed managers. Personnel with proven experience who are not in a leadership position may detain information that could be used to improve customer retention and acquisition strategies.

The COVID-19 pandemic health situation that required that strict protocols be followed, and remote interviews are conducted limited the opportunity for improved communication and to garner visual cues provided by face-to-face interviews. Further research that consists of the face-to-face interviews could address the limitations of remote interviews and could allow the researcher to collect exhaustive information (Farooq & De Villiers, 2017). Participants in a face-to-face interview tend to provide more information than telephone interview respondents (Ervine, 2011).

Time and resources were limiting factors to this research study; therefore, quantitative research design could be conducted in future research that might disclose a variety of successful customer acquisition and retention strategies. With a quantitative research design, the researcher could provoke new perspectives by evaluating different hypotheses and comparing the relationship between variables to confirm or refute existing theories.

Reflections

My enrollment in the Walden University Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) program has brought out qualities that I had never suspected to have. I am not patient by nature but I like to study regardless of the time it takes to learn. One might wonder how can someone not be patient and like to study at the same time, knowing that studies require patience? Well, I get bored easily, I do not steadiness and learning consists of acquiring new skills. I did not have a good grasp of the requirement of the DBA; I had a preconceived idea that it was going to be another learning experience that would lead to a higher degree: I was wrong. The requirement of time, discipline, dedication, and organization to name a few, was just overwhelmingly hard to balance with family and professional obligations. With the support of my spouse, my chair, and my peers I managed to reach deep within myself to find the resources needed to continue. A support system is a must for someone who embarks on a doctorate journey; it should not be engaged alone.

The DBA program is challenging, yet very rewarding in all aspects. DBA residences that took me to Barcelona in Spain and Istanbul in Turkey were opportunities

to meet peers from different continents. I have met some great people and built a fraternal relationship with a brother from Dublin in Ireland, and we have plans together. Spending time during residencies with people from all walks of life and continents with whom I shared the same fears and challenges helped me develop resilience and determination, just like in the military.

An impressive aspect was the commitment of the experts I interviewed during the data collection process. All were very enthusiastic about participating in the research study and were grateful to be associated with the research. As the saying goes, "he who teaches learns," two respondents suggested that the interviews sparked ideas for the sake of their business strategies. Collecting and analyzing data that seemed very intimidating at first had become a pleasant and instrumental process as it provided me with tools and techniques that I am currently using in my profession as an auditor.

Conclusion

The purpose of this research study was to explore the strategies that telecommunication marketing managers in Western Senegal use to retain customers, acquire new clients, and ensure a sustained increase in market share. A qualitative research method with a single case study design was found to be the most appropriate approach to conduct this study and thereafter to conduct the analysis of the information collected under the aegis of the research question.

The research findings were consistent with the widely held literature as well as the conceptual framework of the study and could contribute to customer retention strategies. This study's findings can be used by telecom industry leaders to develop better

customer retention strategies that are considered the result of customer satisfaction but also the main generator of profits for businesses. Business leaders already understand the importance of customer retention and the correlation with business sustainability; however, it is equally important to understand that customer retention strategy should be treated as a living instrument dependent on changing internal and external environments. We acquire knowledge through reading and listening: When you talk, you are only repeating what you already know, but when you listen, you may learn something new-Dalai Lama.

References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Admistracao: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66–98.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abedini, N. C., Stack, S. W., & Goodman, J. L. (2018). "It's not time off": A framework for understanding factors promoting recovery from burnout among internal medicine residents. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 10(1), 26–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.4300/jgme-d-17-00440.1
- Abu-Alhaija, A. S., Hussein, H. S., & Allan, A. J. A. (2019). Relationship between customer satisfaction and customer loyalty: A review and future directions of its nature and approaches. *Eurasian Journal of Social Sciences*, 7(4), 28–39. https://doi.org/10.15604/ejss.2019.07.04.003
- Adom, D., Hussein, E. K., & Adu-Agyem, J. (2018). Theoretical and conceptual framework: Mandatory ingredients of a quality research. *International Journal of Science Research*, 7(1), 438–441.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/322204158 theoretical and coneptual framework mandatory ingredients of a quality research
- Agency for the Regulation of Telecommunications and Posts. (2020). Analysis report on the market of telecommunication in Senegal. Rapport sur le marché des communications électroniques en 2020 | ARTP Sénégal
- Agency for the Regulation of Telecommunications and Posts. (2018). Analysis report on

- the market of telecommunication in Senegal.
- http://artpsenegal.net/sites/default/files/docs enquetes/rapport danalyse du marc
 he des telecommunications au senegal en 2018 0.pdf
- Agunloye, O. O. (2019). Ethics in academic research and scholarship: An elucidation of the principles and applications. *Journal of Global Education and Research*, *3*(2), 168–180. https://www.doi.org/10.5038/2577-509X.3.2.1036
- Ahmad, R., & Buttle, F. (2001). Customer retention: A potentially potent marketing management strategy. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 9(1), 29–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/713775729
- Al-Hashedi, A. H., & Abkar, S. A. (2017). The impact of service quality dimensions on customer satisfaction in telecom mobile companies in Yemen. *American Journal of Economics*, 7(4), 186–193.

 http://article.sapub.org/10.5923.j.economics.20170704.04.html
- Alami, H., Gagnon, M. P., & Fortin, J. P. (2019). Some multidimensional unintended consequences of telehealth utilization: A multi-project evaluation synthesis.

 International Journal of Health Policy and Management, 8(6), 337–352.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2019.12
- Alamsyah, F. V., & Rachmawati, I. (2018). Factors influencing to customer loyalty towards mobile service provider. *Jurnal Manajemen dan Bisnis: Performa*, 15(2), 139–144. http://dx.doi.org/10.29313/performa.v0i0.3595
- Ali, I. (2019). Personality traits, individual innovativeness, and satisfaction with life. *Journal of Innovation and Knowledge*, 4(1), 38–46.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2017.11.002

- Alvarez-Garcia, J., de la Cruz del Rio-Rama, M., & Simonetti, B. (2017). Quality management and customer results: The tourist accommodation sector in Spain.

 International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 34(5), 701–719.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-05-2015-0084
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(26). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Andirin, C., Moital. M., & Cardoso, C. P. (2017). Service failures as organizational crises in business travel: Origins and operational strategies as perceived by events professionals. *Brazilian Journal of Tourism Research*, 11(3), 480–502. https://doi.org/10.7784/rbtur.v11i3.1342
- Apuke, O. D. (2017). Quantitative research methods: A Synopsis approach article.

 *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review (Kuwait Chapter), 6(10), 40–47. https://doi.org/10.12816/0040336
- Arnaboldi, M., Busco, C., & Cuganesan, S. (2017). Accounting, accountability, social media and big data: A revolution or hype? *Accounting Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 30(4). https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-03-2017-2880
- Ascarza, E., Neslin, S. A., Netzer, O., Anderson, Z., Fader, P. S., Gupta, S., Hardie, B. G. S., Lemmens, A., Libai, B., Neal, D., Provost, F., & Schrift, R. (2018). In pursuit of enhanced customer retention management: Review, key issues, and future

directions. *Customer Needs and Solutions*, *5*(1-2), 65–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40547-017-0080-0

- Ascarza, E. (2017). Retention futility: Targeting high risk customers might be ineffective.

 Journal of Marketing Research, 55(1), 80–98.

 https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.16.0163
- Ascarza, E., Iyengar, R., & Schleicher, M. (2016). The perils of proactive churn prevention using plan recommendations: Evidence from a field experiment.

 Journal of Marketing Research (JMR), 53(1), 46–60.

 https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.13.0483
- Ashraf, M. A., & Niazi, A. (2018). Impact of brand image, service quality and trust on customer loyalty, moderating effect of perceived price fairness and mediating effect of customer satisfaction: Case study on telecommunication sector of Pakistan. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3235566
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology* 42, 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7
- Atiyah, L. A. (2017). Impact of service quality on customer satisfaction. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 11(5), 20–28.

 www.ajbasweb.com/old/ajbas/2017/April/20-28.pdf
- Bagozzi, R. P., Batra, R., & Ahuvia, A. (2017). Brand love: Development and validation of a practical scale. *Marketing Letters*, 28(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11002-016-9406-1
- Bahri-Ammari, N., & Bilgihan, A. (2019). Customer retention to mobile

- telecommunication service providers: The roles of perceived justice and customer loyalty program. *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, *17*(1), 82–107. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMC.2019.10011056
- Balaji, M. S., Roy, S. K., & Quazi, A. (2017). Customers' emotion regulation strategies in service failure encounters, *European Journal of Marketing*, *51*(5/6), 960–982. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-03-2015-0169
- Bandi, N. C., & Dharmaraju, S. R. (2019). The role of customer satisfaction and customer retention. *Complexity International Journal (CIJ)*, 23(3), 35–43. http://cij.org.in/pdf/CIJ-23-03-004.pdf
- Barrett, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 21(3), 63–64. https://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939
- Barrows, C. W., Early, K., Meyer, C., & Rogoff, J. (2017). A Review of the Club Management Literature: 2005–2014. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 26(3). 297–334. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2017.1235999
- Bartlett, L., & Vavrus, F. (2017). Comparative case studies: An innovative approach.

 Nordic Journal of Comparative and International Education (NJCIE), 1(1), 5–17.

 https://doi.org/10.7577/njcie.1929
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(40), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2014.1008
- Baxter, R. K. (2018). The membership economy: Redefining the promise of quality.

 *Journal of Quality & Participation, 40(4), 18–21.

http://rube.asq.org/pub/jqp/past/2018/january/index.html

- Béal, M., Sabadie, W., & Grégoire, Y. (2019). The effects of relationship length on customer profitability after a service recovery. *Marketing Letters*, 30(3–4). https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11002-019-09505-8
- Becker, H. S. (2017). Evidence. University of Chicago Press.
- Belwal, R., & Amireh, M. (2018). Service quality and attitudinal loyalty: Consumers' perception of two major telecommunication companies in Oman. *Arab Economic and Business Journal*, *13*(2), 197–208. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aebj.2018.11.003
- Bhatta, T. P. (2018). Case study research, philosophical position, and theory building: A methodological discussion. *Dhaulagiri Journal of Sociology and Anthropology*, 12, 72–79. https://doi.org/10.3126/dsaj.v12i0.22182
- Bhattacharjee, A., Jahanshahi, A. A., Polas, M. R. A., Hossain, M. A., & Asheq, A. S. (2019). Customer care service management is moving forward to achieve sustainable customers retention in every industry. Does it play a role to increase brand retention? *International Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 8(2), 88–97. https://doi.org/10.18488/journal.11.2019.82.88.97
- Bhattacharya, S. (2019). Modelling channel partners' opinions to achieve value-based relationship: An empirical study using RIDIT algorithm. *Journal of Indian Business Research*, 11(3), 220–243. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIBR-04-2017-0037
- Bhattacharjee, A., Rashedhasanpolas, M., Uddinreza, M. M., & Shourov, R. (2018). The effects of broadband service quality on user's value and loyalty: A study on

- foreign customers in Malaysia. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 20(2), 48–58. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-2002024858
- Bijmolt, T. H. A., Krafft, M., Sese, F. J., & Viswanathan, V. (2018). Multi-tier Loyalty

 Programs to Stimulate Customer Engagement. In: Palmatier R., Kumar V.,

 Harmeling C. (eds) *Customer Engagement Marketing* (pp. 119–139). Palgrave

 Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61985-9_6
- Bir, J. (2018). The impact of customer retention strategies in the Nepalese GSM mobile service providers: A case of Pokhara City. *Economic Literature*, *13*, 46–54. https://doi.org/10.3126/el.v13i0.19150
- Birks, M., Hoare, K., & Mills, J. (2019). Grounded Theory: The FAQs. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919882535
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13). 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Boerman, S. C., Willemsen, L. M., & van Der Aa, E. P. (2017). "This post is sponsored": Effects of sponsorship disclosure on persuasion knowledge and electronic word of mouth in the context of Facebook. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 38, 82–92. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2016.12.002
- Borrego, M., Foster, M. J., & Froyd, J. E. (2014). Systematic literature reviews in engineering education and other developing interdisciplinary fields. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 103(1), 45–76. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jee.20038

- Braun, C., Hadwich, K., & Bruhn, M. (2017). How do different types of customer engagement affect important relationship marketing outcomes? An empirical analysis. *Journal of Customer Behavior*, *16*, 111–144.

 https://doi.org/10.1362/147539217X14909732699525
- Bruwer, J., Roediger, B., & Herbst, F. (2017). Domain specific market segmentation: A wine-related lifestyle (WRL) approach. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 29(1), 4–26. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJML-10-2015-0161
- Bundy, L. (2017). Expatriates go shopping: Food and shopping acculturation.

 International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 45(10), 1079–1094.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijrdm-08-2016-0127
- Buriro, A. G., Awan, J. H., & Lanjwani, A. R. (2017). Interview: A research instrument for social science researchers. *International Journal of Social Sciences*,

 *Humanities, and Education, 1(4) 1–14.

 http://www.ijsshe.com/index.php/ijsshe/article/download/56/24
- Calvo-Porral, C., Faíña-Medín, A., & Nieto-Mengotti, M. (2017). Satisfaction and switching intention in mobile services: Comparing lock-in and free contracts in the Spanish market. *Telematics and Informatics*, *34*(5), 717–729.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2016.08.022
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619–628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Carrera, M., Royer, H., Stehr, M., & Sydnor, J. (2018). Can financial incentives help people trying to establish new habits? Experimental evidence with new gym

- members. *Journal of Health Economics*, 58, 202–214. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2018.02.010
- Chahal, H., & Bala, R. (2017). Role of customer retention equity in creating and developing brand value. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, *16*(2), 119–142. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15332667.2016.1242397
- Charmaz, K. (2017). Special invited paper: Continuities, contradictions, and critical inquiry in grounded theory. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917719350
- Chuah, S. H. W., Marimuthu, M., Kandampully, J., & Bilgihan, A. (2017). What drives gen Y loyalty? Understanding the mediated moderating roles of switching costs and alternative attractiveness in the value-satisfaction loyalty chain. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 36, 124–136.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.01.010
- Chumba, P. K., Chepkilot, R., & Tanui, J. K. (2019). Influence of competitive strategies on firm performance in the telecommunication industry: A case study of telkom Kenya in Nakuru East Sub County. *World Journal of Innovative Research*, 7(4), 55–64. https://www.wjir.org/download_data/WJIR0704024.pdf
- Clark, K. R., & Veale, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482ct–485ct. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29793921
- Claybaugh, C. C., & Haseman, W. D. (2013). Understanding professional connections in LinkedIn: A question of trust. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1),

- 94–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2013.11645675
- Cole, H., DeNardin, T., & Clow, K. (2017). Small service businesses: Advertising attitudes and the use of digital and social media marketing. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 38(4), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2011.594878
- Collingridge, D. S., & Gantt, D. E. (2019). The quality of qualitative research. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 34(5), 439–445.

 https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1062860619873187
- Creswell, J. W. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cruz-Milan, O. (2021). Hotels' marketing mix responses at insecurity-stricken destinations: A study in the US–Mexico border. *International Hospitality Review*, *Vol. ahead-of-print* No. ahead-of-print. https://doi.org/10.1108/IHR-09-2020-0054
- Dadzie, K. Q., Amponsah, D. K. Dadzie, C. A., & Winston, E. M. (2017). How firms implement marketing strategies in emerging markets: An empirical assessment of the 4A marketing mix framework. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 25(3), 234–256. https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2017.1311220
- Dainty, K. N., & Sinclair, D. (2017). A critical qualitative study of the position of middle managers in health care quality improvement. *Journal of Nursing Care Quality*,

- 32(2), 172–179. https://doi.org/10.1097/ncq.0000000000000224
- Dalkin, S., Forsster, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussier, M., & Carr, S. M. (2021). Using computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVivo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement and testing.

 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 24(1), 123–134.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528
- Dalziel, R. C. & De Klerk, N. (2021). Media and group influence on Generation Y consumers' attitudes towards beauty products. *Spanish Journal of Marketing ESIC*. Vol. ahead-of-print No. ahead-of-print. https://doi.org/10.1108/SJME-12-2019-0104
- Das, M., Mishra, M., & Mohanty, P. K. (2018). The impact of customer relationship management (CRM) practices on customer retention and the mediating effect of customer satisfaction. *International Journal of Management Studies*, V(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.18843/ijms/v5i1(4)/15
- Datta, P., Fraser, P., & Mohamed, L. (2018). An investigation into the relationship between customer relationship marketing and customer retention: Superstore retailing context in Bangladesh. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research (JBRMR)*, 13(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.24052/JBRMR/V13IS02/ART-03
- De Haal, E., Verhoef, P. C., & Wiesel, T. (2015). The predictive ability of different customer feedback metrics for retention. International Journal of Research in Marketing, 32(2), 195–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2015.02.004
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care

- research: A balance of relationship and rigor. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Delima, A., Ashary, H. M., & Usman, O. (2019). Influence of service quality, product quality, price, brand image, and promotion to consumer satisfaction affecting on consumer loyalty (Online Shop). *Journal Economics. SSRN Electronic Journal*. 1–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3308707
- Demir, A. (2019). A benchmarking of service quality in telecommunication services:

 Case study in Kurdistan region of Iraq. *International Journal of Social Sciences*and Educational Studies, 5(3) 216–231.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v5i3p216
- Demir, A. (2017). Importance of data analysis on achieving the organizational goals during the short term strategic plan: Case of service quality and students' satisfaction level at Ishik University. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Educational Studies*, *3*(3), 110–121. http://dx.doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v3i3p110
- Deshpande, D. D., & Deshmukh, A. A. (2017). Customer retention-A new challenge for mobile service providers. *International Research Journal of Commerce and Law*, 4(7).
 - https://www.academia.edu/38689236/Customer_Retention_A_New_Challenge_F or_Mobile_Service_Providers
- Desrochers, P. (2010). The environmental responsibility of business is to increase its profits (by creating value within the bounds of private property rights). *Industrial and Corporate Change*, *19*(1), 161–204. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtp046

- Dewi, L. (2020). Customer loyalty, through customer satisfaction in customers PT, XYZ.

 Journal of Applied Management, 18(1), 189–200.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.21776/ub.jam.2020.018.01.19
- Dhasan, D., Kowathanakul, S., & Theingi (2017). Building customer loyalty through service quality, customer engagement and commitment: The case of mobile network providers in Thailand. XVI International Business & Economy Conference (IBEC).

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2921006

- Diaz, G. R. (2017). The influence of satisfaction on customer retention in mobile phone market. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *36*, 75–85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.01.003
- Dollah, S., Abduh, A., & Rosmaladewi, M. (2017). Benefits and drawbacks of NVivo QSR application. *Atlantis Press*, 149. http://dx.doi.org/10.2991/icest-17.2017.21
- Dooly, M., Moore, E., & Vallejo, C. (2017). Research ethics. *Qualitative approaches to research on plurilingual education*, 351–362. http://dx.doi.org/10.14705/rpnet.2017.emmd2016.634
- Eckert, C. (2017). Corporate reputation and reputation risk: Definition and measurement from a risk management perspective. *Journal of Risk Finance*, *18*(2), 145–158. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JRF-06-2016-0075
- Eggert, A., Ulaga, W., Frow, P., & Payne, A. (2018). Conceptualizing and communicating value in business markets: From value in exchange to value in us. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 69, 80–90.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.01.018

- Ervine, A. (2011). Duration, dominance and depth in telephone and face-to-face interviews: A comparative exploration. *The International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 10(3), 202–220. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/160940691101000302
- Ellyawati, J. (2017). Customers' response to service failure: An empirical study on Indonesian customers. *Asean Marketing Journal*, *IX*(1), 18–27. https://core.ac.uk/reader/157575670
- Espejo, M. M. D. S. B., Portulhak, H., & Pacheco, V. (2017). Performance management in university hospitals: An empirical analysis in a Brazilian institution. *Tourism & Management Studies*, *13*(1), 52–59. http://dx.doi.org/10.18089/tms.2017.13107
- Espinosa, J. A., Ortinau, D. J., Krey, N., & Monahan, L. (2018). I'll have the usual: How restaurant brand image, loyalty, and satisfaction keep customers coming back.

 Journal of Product & Brand Management, 27, 599–614.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/jpbm-10- 2017-1610
- Farida, N., & Ardyan, E. (2018). The driving of customer loyalty: Relational approach, perceived value and corporate image. *International Journal of Business and Society*, 19(1), 15–26. http://www.ijbs.unimas.my/images/repository/pdf/Vol19-no1-paper2.pdf
- Farooq, M. B., & De Villiers, C. (2017). Telephonic qualitative research interviews:

 When to consider them and how to do them. *Meditari Accountancy Research*,

 25(2), 291–316. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-10-2016-0083
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (Write a scientific paper): Sampling in qualitative research.

- Early Human Development, 133, 69–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016
- Fernandes, T., & Pedroso, R. (2017). The effect of self-checkout quality on customer satisfaction and repatronage in a retail context. *Service Business*, 11(1), 69–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11628-016-0302-9
- Fida, B. A., Ahmed, U., Al-Balushi, Y., & Singh, D. (2020). Impact of service quality on customer loyalty and customer satisfaction in Islamic banks in the Sultanate of Oman. *Sage Journals*, 10(2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020919517
- Fisher, N.I.; & Kordupleski, R.E. (2019). Good and bad market research: A critical review of Net Promoter Score. *Applied. Stochastic Models in Business and Industry*, 35(1), 138–151. https://doi.org/10.1002/asmb.2417
- Floyd, S., Rossi, G., Baranova J., Blythe, J., Dingemanse, M., Kendrick, K. H., Zinken, J, & Enfield, N. J. (2018) Universals and cultural diversity in the expression of gratitude. *Royal Society Open Science*, *5*(5).

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsos.180391
- Fouad, N., & Al-Goblan, N. (2017). Using customer relationship management systems at university libraries: A comparative study between Saudi Arabia and Egypt. *IFLA Journal*, 43(2), 158–170. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0340035216685103
- Fournier, S., & Srinivasan, S. (2018). Branding and the risk management imperative. *GfK-Marketing Intelligence Review*, 10(1), 10–17. https://doi.org/10.2478/gfkmir-2018-0002
- Fritz, R. L., & Vandermause, R. (2017). Data collection via in-depth email interviewing:

- Lessons from the field. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(10), 1640–1649. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049732316689067
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, *10*(1), 19–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923–941. http://dx.doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2580
- Gek, C. M., & Lok, S. Y. P. (2019). Corporate transparency, competitive advantage and firm performance: Evidence from public listed firms in Malaysia. *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal*, 11(2), 73–81.

 http://gbmrjournal.com/pdf/vol.%2011%20no.%202/V11N2_2019.pdf
- Gentles, S. J., & Vilches, S. L. (2017). Calling for a shared understanding of sampling terminology in qualitative research: Proposed clarifications derived from critical analysis of a methods overview by McCrae and Pursell. *The International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1609406917725678
- Ghazi, A. N., Petersen, K., Reddy, S. S. V. R., & Nekkanti, H. (2018). Survey research in software engineering: Problems and mitigation strategies. *IEEE Access*, 7, 24703–24718. http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2881041
- Girard, T., Trapp, P., Pinar, M., Gulsoy, T., & Boyt, T. E. (2017). Consumer-based brand equity of a private-label brand: Measuring and examining determinants. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 25(1), 39–56.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2016.1236662

- Grech, V. (2018). WASP (Write a Scientific Paper): Ethical issues and data protection in researcher. *Early Human Development*, *124*, 42–43.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2018.04.020
- Gross, M. S., Miller, R., & Hood, A. (2019). Ethical challenges for deidentified data in learning health systems. http://dx.doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.13113.49761
- GSM Association. (2019). The mobile economy sub-Saharan Africa.

 https://www.gsma.com/mobileeconomy/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/GSMA_MobileEconomy2020_SSA_Eng.pdf
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020) A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE 15*(5): e0232076.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Guha, S., Harrigan, P., & Soutar, G. (2018). Linking social media to customer relationship management (CRM): A qualitative study on SMEs. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, 30(3), 193–214.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08276331.2017.1399628
- Guo, H., Xu, H., Tang, C., Liu-Thompkins, Y., Guo, Z., & Dong, B. (2018). Comparing the impact of different marketing capabilities: Empirical evidence from B2B firms in China. *Journal of Business Research*, *93*, 79–89.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.04.010

Hadi, N. U., Aslam, N., & Gulzar, A. (2019). Sustainable service quality and customer loyalty: The role of customer satisfaction and switching costs in the Pakistan

- cellphone industry. Sustainability, 11(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/su11082408
- Hafez, M., & Akther, N. (2017). Determinants of customer loyalty in mobile telecommunication industry in Bangladesh. Global Journal of Management and Business Research: Administration and Management, 17(1). https://globaljournals.org/GJMBR_Volume17/13-Determinants-of-Customer-Loyalty.pdf
- Hagaman, A. K., & Wutich, A. (2017). How many interviews are enough to identify metathemes in multisited and cross-cultural research? Another perspective on guest, Bunce, and Johnson's (2006) Landmark Study. *Field Methods*, 29(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X16640447
- Hamilton, R. W., Rust, R. T., & Dev, C. S. (2017). Which features increase customer retention? *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *58*, 79–84. https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/which-features-increase-customer-retention/
- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017). Case orientations study research: Foundations and methodological. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *18*(1), Art. 19. http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-18.1.2655
- Harwati, L. N. (2019). Ethnographic and case study approaches: Philosophical and methodological analysis. *International Journal of Education & Literacy Studies*, 7(2), 150–155. http://dx.doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.7n.2p.150
- Hawkins, L., & Hoon, S. (2019). The impact of customer retention strategies and the survival of small service-based businesses. *Social Science and Research Network*. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3445173

- Hawkins, J. E. (2018). The practical utility and suitability of email interviews in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(2), 493–501. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss2/15
- Hayashi, P., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98–112. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss1/8
- Hazée, S., Van Vaerenbergh, Y. V., & Armirotto, V. (2017). Co-creating service recovery after service failure: The role of brand equity. *Journal of Business Research*, 74, 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.01.014
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591–608. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Hill, N., & Alexander, J. (2017). The handbook of customer satisfaction and loyalty measurement. Routledge.
- Hogreve, J., Bilstein, N., & Mandl, L. (2017). Unveiling the recovery time zone of tolerance: when time matters in service recovery. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 45(6), 866–883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-017-0544-7
- Homburg C., Jozic', D., & Kuehnl, C. (2017). Customer experience management:

 Toward implementing an evolving marketing concept. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 45(3), 377–401. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11747-015-0460-7
- Honorene, J. (2017). Understanding the role of triangulation in research. *Scholarly Research Journal For Interdisciplinary Studies*, 4(31), 91–95.

- http://srjis.com/pages/pdfFiles/149544238718.%20HONORENO%20JOHNSON.pdf
- Hossain, A., Chowdhury, R., & Jahan, N. (2017). Customer retention and telecommunications services in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, 7(11), 921–930. http://dx.doi.org/10.18488/journal.1.2017.711.921.930
- Hult, G. T. M., Sharma, P. N., Morgeson III, F. V., & Zhang, Y. (2019). Antecedents and consequences of customer satisfaction: do they differ across online and offline purchases? *Journal of Retailing*, 95(1), 10–23.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2018.10.003
- Hwang, H. (2016). A stochastic approach for valuing customers: A case study.

 *International Journal of Software Engineering and Its Applications, 10(3), 67–82.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.14257/ijseia.2016.10.3.07
- Iglesias, O., Markovic, S., Bagherzadeh, M., & Singh, J. J. (2018). Co-creation: A key link between corporate social responsibility, customer trust, and customer loyalty.

 **Journal of Business Ethics, 163(1), 151–166. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-4015-y
- Islam, T., Islam, R., Pitafi, H., Xiaobei, L., Mahmood, M. S., Irfan, M., & Mubarak, S. (2020). The impact of corporate social responsibility on customer loyalty: The mediating role of corporate reputation, customer satisfaction, and trust.

 Sustainable Production and Consumption, 25(2).

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.07.019
- Izogo, E. E. (2017). Customer loyalty in telecom service sector: the role of service quality

- and customer commitment. *TQM Journal*, 29(1), 19–36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/TQM-10-2014-0089
- Jahan, N., Rahman, M. M., Hossain, M. A., & Saiful, H. (2019). An empirical study on customer satisfaction: Mobile phone users in an emerging market. *Journal of Digital Convergence*, 17(4), 75–85. http://dx.doi.org/10.14400/JDC.2019.17.4.075
- Jamaluddin, & Ruswanti, E. (2017). Impact of service quality and customer satisfaction on customer loyalty: A case study in a private hospital in Indonesia. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management (IOSR-JBM)*, 19(5), 23–33.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.9790/487X-1905012333
- Johnson, C., Faught, S., & Long, J. (2017). Analyzing the needs of rural small businesses and developing economic sustainability programs for their management teams.

 International Journal of The Academic Business World, 11(1), 23–30.

 http://jwpress.com/Journals/IJABW/BackIssues/IJABW-Spring-2017.pdf
- kaczorowska-Spychalska, D. (2017). Consumer perspective of omnichannel commerce. *Management*, 21(2), 95–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/manment-2017-0007
- Kalani, E., Elhami, A., Mashreghi, M., Kazem-Zadeh, R. B., & Kamrani, E. (2018).
 Customer strategy for implementing customer relationship management in corporation with the value-based network analysis approach. *American Journal of Industrial and Business Management*, 8, 537–547.

http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2018.83035

Kasiri, L. A., Guan Cheng, K. T., Sambasivan, M., & Sidin, S. M., (2017). Integration of

- standardization and customization: Impact on service quality, customer satisfaction, and loyalty. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *35*, 91–97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.11.007
- Kemp, E., & Poole, S. M. (2017). What's love got to do with it? Investigating consumer commitment in health care. *Health Marketing Quarterly*, *34*(2), 113–127. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07359683.2017.1309210
- Kienzler, M., & Kowalkowski, C. (2017). Pricing strategy: A review of 22 years of marketing. *Research. Journal of Business Research*, 78, 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.05.005
- Kim, S., Chio, S., & Verma, R. (2017). Providing feedback to service customers. The effect of the presentation order and repetition of feedback types. *Journal of Service Management*, 28(2), 389–416. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JOSH-11-2015-0368
- King, J. (2018). What Makes Consumers Loyal to Brands? Insider Intelligence.

 https://www.emarketer.com/content/what-makes-consumers-loyal-to-brands?ecid=NL1014
- Koc, E. (2018). Service failures and recovery in hospitality and tourism: A review of literature and recommendations for future research. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 28(7), 1–25.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2019.1537139
- Koc, E., Ulukoya, M., Kilica, R., Yumusaka, S., & Bahar, R. (2017). The influence of customer participation on service failure perceptions. *Total Quality Management*,

- 28(4), 390404. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2015.1090290
- Konuk, F. A. (2018). Price fairness, satisfaction, and trust as antecedents of purchase intentions towards organic food. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 17(2), 141– 148. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1697
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120–124. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018) Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 2: Context, research questions and designs. *European Journal of General Practice*, 23(1), 274–279. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375090
- Kotler, P. (1967). *Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, and Control.* Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Kristensen, K. & Eskildsen, J. (2014). Is the NPS a trustworthy performance measure? *The TQM Journal*, 26(2), 202–214. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-03-2011-0021
- Kumar, V. (2018). A theory of customer valuation: Concepts, metrics, strategy, and implementation. *Journal of Marketing*, 82(1), 1–19.
 https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.17.0208
- Kumar, B. V., & Lakshmi, P. V. (2019). The impact of marketing mix on customer

- satisfaction. *Complexity International Journal (CIJ)*, 23(2), 116–122. http://cij.org.in/CurrentissuesDownload.aspx
- Kumar, M., & Lyall, B. W. (2018). A critical analysis on service quality and customer retention. Research Review International Journal of Multidisciplinary, 3(7), 373– 378. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3201409
- Kwame, A. J., Kwaku, A. J., & Hongyun, T. (2019). Service quality and consumer choice of their preferred telecommunications service provider in Ghana. *EJBMR*, *European Journal of Business and Management Research*, 4(6). http://dx.doi.org/10.24018/ejbmr.2019.4.6.126
- Leinsle, P., Totzek, D., & Schumann, J. H. (2018). How price fairness and fit affect customer tariff evaluations. *Journal of Service Management*, 29(4), 735–764. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-10-2017-0270
- Lemmens, A., & Gupta, S. (2020). Managing churn to maximize profits. *Marketing Science*, 39(5). https://doi.org/10.1287/mksc.2020.1229
- Leninkumar, V. (2017). The relationship between customer satisfaction and customer trust on customer loyalty. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences* 7(4), 450–465. http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v7-i4/2821
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).

 Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4(1), 2–22. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/qup0000082

- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Lo, A., Wu, J., Law, R., & Au, N. (2016). Which promotion time frame works best for restaurant group-buying deals? *Tourism recreation research*, 39(2), 203–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/02508281.2014.11081767
- Louw, S., Todd, R. W., & Jimakorn, P. (2018). Active listening in qualitative research interviews. *Proceedings of the International Conference: Doing Research in Applied Linguistics*. 71–82.

 http://arts.kmutt.ac.th/dral/PDF%20proceedings%20on%20Web/71-

82_Active_Listening_in_Qualitative_Research_Interviews.pdf

- Lyall, B. W., & Kumar, M. (2018). A critical analysis on service quality and customer retention. *Research Review International Journal of Multidisciplinary*, *3*(7), 373–378. http://dx.doi.org/10-2018/373-378_rrijm18030777
- Ma, J. (2021). Telework triggered by epidemic: Effective communication improvement of telecommuting in workgroups during COVID-19. *American Journal of Industrial and Business Management*, 11(2), 202–214.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2021.112013
- Mabkhot, H. A., Shaari, H., & Salleh, S. (2017). The influence of brand image and brand personality on brand loyalty, mediating by brand trust: An empirical study. *Jurnal Pengurusan*, 50(18), 71–82. http://dx.doi.org/10.17576/pengurusan-2017-50-07

Makrides, M., Vrontis, D., & Christofi, M. (2019). The gold rush of digital marketing:

- Assessing prospects of building brand awareness overseas.
- *Business Perspectives and Research* 8(1), 4–20.
- https://doi.org/10.1177/2278533719860016
- Madill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2018). Mirrors, portraits, and member checking: Managing difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology*, 5(3), 321–339. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089
- Mady, S. A. (2020). The effect of entrepreneurial and customer orientation on service quality in Hotels. *Technology Reports of Kansai University*, 62(06), 3025–3056. http://dstore.alazhar.edu.ps/xmlui/handle/123456789/622
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. *AISHE-J: The All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 8(3), 3351–33514.

 http://ojs.aishe.org/index.php/aishe-j/article/view/335/553
- Mahapatra, S. N. & Kumar, P. (2017). Customer retention: A study of Indian banks. *International Journal of Research-Granthaalayah*, 5(7), 485–492.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.838997
- Manen, M. V. (2017a). Phenomenology in its original sense. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6) 810–825. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049732317699381
- Manen, M. V. (2017b). Phenomenology and meaning attribution. *Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, 17(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/20797222.2017.1368253
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (5th ed.). Sage. Mason, J. (2017). *Qualitative researching*. Sage.

- Masterson, F., & Cormican, K. (2013). Overview of the regulation of medical devices and drugs in the European Union and the United States. *Therapeutic Innovation & Regulatory Science*, 47(6), 715–722. https://doi.org/10.1177/2168479013500969
- McCrory, B., Pilcher, N., & McMillan, J. (2017). A holistic framework to embed good company practice for customer retention. *The TQM Journal*, 29, 257–275. https://doi.org/10.1108/tqm-11-2015-0139
- McKim, C. A. (2017). The value of mixed methods research: A mixed methods study.

 Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 11(2), 202–222.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689815607096
- Md Isa, F., Noor, S., Wei Wei, G., Syed Hussain, S. D. B., Mohamad Ibrahim, H., & Ahmdon, M. A. S. (2020). Exploring the facet of elderly care centre in multiethnic Malaysia. *PSU Research Review*, Vol. ahead-of-print No. ahead-of-print. https://doi.org/10.1108/PRR-05-2020-0013
- Mechera-Ostrovsky, T., & Gluth, S. (2018). Memory beliefs drive the memory bias on value-based decisions. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 10592. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28728-9
- Mirrick, R. G., & Wladkowski, S. P. (2019). Skype in qualitative Interviews: Participant and researcher perspectives. *The qualitative report*, 24(12), 3061–3072. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3632
- Mishra, R. D., & Rasundram, J. (2017). Triangulation an essential tool to enhance the validity of a case study. *Scholarly Research Journal For Interdisciplinary Studies*, *4*(31). 69–74.

- http://www.srjis.com/pages/pdfFiles/149544193514.%20RASHI%20DUBEY%2 0MISHRA%20AND%20Jovita%20Rasundram.pdf
- Moenardy, K. K., Arifin, S. Z., & Kumadji, S. (2016). The effect of service quality and relationship marketing to customer value, customer satisfaction, switching cost, and customer retention: A case study on the customers of bank NTT at East Nusa Tenggara province. *International Journal of Management and Administrative Sciences*, 3(4), 48–63. https://www.ijmas.org/3-4/IJMAS-3307-2016.pdf
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23–48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Mohajan, H. K. (2017). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability. *Annals of Spiru Haret University Economic Series*, 17(4), 59–82. http://dx.doi.org/10.26458/1746
- Mohammed, S. S., & Shahin, O. (2020). Service quality perspectives in telecommunication sector: Trust and loyalty investigation. *Amazonia Investiga*, 9(28), 394–403. http://dx.doi.org/10.34069/AI/2020.28.04.44
- Mohanty, A., & Das, S. (2017). Impact of customer relationship management (CRM) on telecom sector in India. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Science and Technology*, 3(8), 431–437. http://ijsrst.com/paper/1707.pdf
- Mohtasham, S. S., Sarollahi, S. K., & Hamirazavi, D. (2017). The effect of service quality and innovation on word of mouth marketing success. *Eurasian Business Review*, 7(2), 229–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40821-017-0080-x

- Moreno, F. M., Lafuente, J. G., Carreon, F. A., & Moreno, S. M. (2017). The characterization of the millennials and their buying behaviour. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 9(5). 135–144. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijms.v9n5p135
- Morgan, S., & Govender, K. (2017) Exploring customer loyalty in the South African mobile telecommunications sector, *Cogent Business & Management*, *4*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2016.1273816
- Morse, J. (2020). The changing face of qualitative inquiry. *International Journal for Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920909938
- Mpinganjira, M., & Maduku. D. K. (2019). Ethics of mobile behavioral advertising:
 Antecedents and outcomes of perceived ethical value of advertised brands.
 Journal of Business Research 95, 464–478.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.07.037
- Mullatahiri, V., & Ukaj, F. (2019). The effects of e-marketing communication on brand loyalty: The case of mobile telephone operators in Kosovo. *Journal of Distribution Science*, 17(6), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.15722/jds.17.06.201906.15
- Munyanti, I, & Masrom, M. (2018). Customer satisfaction factors towards mobile network services. *Journal of Advanced Research in Business and Management Studies*, *13*(1), 9–18. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/231742492.pdf
- Naderifar, M., Goli, H., & Ghaljaie, F. (2017). Snowball sampling: A Purposeful method of sampling in qualitative research. *Strides in Development of Medical Education*, 14(3). http://dx.doi.org/10.5812/sdme.67670

- Nandi, A., & Platt, L. (2017). Are there differences in responses to social identity questions in face-to-face versus telephone interviews? Results of an experiment on a longitudinal survey. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 20(2), 151–166. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1165495
- National agency for Statistics and Demography (2020). National survey on employment in Senegal fourth quarter 2020. rapp_enes_t4_2020_v1_obs_ab_Vf.pdf (ansd.sn)
- National Institute of Health (2014). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*.

 https://www.cdc.gov/about/ethics/pdf/lunch_and_learn/Belmont%20Report.pdf
- Ngwenya, M. (2017). Achieving a sustained competitive advantage in the South African telecommunications sector. *Universal Journal of Management* 5(6), 278–290. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujm.2017.050603
- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 22(3), 67–68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/160940691773847
- Nuridin, S. M. (2018). Effect of service quality and quality of products to customer loyalty with customer satisfaction as intervening Variable in PT. Nano coating Indonesia. *International Journal of Business and Applied Social Science*(IJBASS), 4(1), 19–31. https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-55666-2
- O'Connor, H., & Gibson, N. (2003). A step-by-step guide to qualitative data analysis. A

- Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health 1(1), 64–78. http://www.pimatisiwin.com/uploads/1289566991.pdf
- Ok, S., Suy, R., Chhay, L., & Choun, C. (2018). Customer satisfaction and service quality in the marketing practice: Study on literature review. *Asian Themes in Social Sciences Research*, *1*(1), 21–27. https://doi.org/10.33094/journal.139.2018.11.21.27
- Okonkwo, A. O. P., Mba, C. C., & Ede, E. C. (2020). Effect of customer satisfaction on customer retention: A study of a bank in Agbani, Enugu State, Nigeria. *IDOSR Journal of Current Issues in Arts and Humanities*, 6(1), 87–96.

 https://www.idosr.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/IDOSR-JCIAH-6187-96-2020.pdf
- Oltmann, S. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent contexts. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 17(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-17.2.2551
- Ong, C. H., Lee., H. W., & Ramayah, T. (2018). Impact of brand experience on loyalty.

 **Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management, 27(7), 755–774.*

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2018.1445055
- Padgett, D. (2017). Qualitative methods in social work research (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Palladan, A. A., & Ahmad, A. M. (2019). Leveraging customers loyalty in telecommunication industry: The role of service quality and customer satisfaction a PLS approach. *International Journal of Marketing Research Innovation*, 3(1). 1–10. https://doi.org/10.46281/ijmri.v3i1.249

- Palladan, A. A., & Palladan, N. Y. (2018). Employees views on payroll computerization and its impact on their productivity: A grounded theory approach. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 8(2).

 https://www.hilarispublisher.com/open-access/employees-views-on-payroll-computerization-and-its-impact-on-theirproductivity-a-grounded-theory-approach-2223-5833-1000340.pdf
- Palladan, A. A., & Adamu, A. M. (2019). Toward mitigating graduate unemployment for political stability: The role electronic commerce technology. A PLS approach.

 Cross Current International Journal of Economics, Management and Media

 Studies, 1(1), 22–29. http://dx.doi.org/10.36344/ccijemms.2019.v01i01.004
- Praveen, H., & Showkat, N. (2017). Research ethics. *ResearchGate*.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318912804 Research_Ethics
- Pazarbasioglu, C., Irigoyen, J. L., & Mehta, A. (2018). African leaders committed to building a digital economy. *World Bank Blogs*.

 https://blogs.worldbank.org/voices/african-leaders-committed-to-building-digital-economy
- Peng, M. Y., & Li, Y. (2019). The impact of expressive brand relationship on brand loyalty: Drawing on relationship marketing theory. *16th International Conference on Service Systems and Service Management (ICSSSM)*.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/icsssm.2019.8887611
- Peppers, D., & Rogers, M. (2017). *Managing customer experience and relationships: A strategic framework*. Wiley.

- Prakoso, A. F., Wulandari, R. N. A., Trisnawati, N., Soesatyo, Y., Fitrayati, D., Rachmawati, L., Kurniawan, R. Y., Dewi, R. M., Ghofur, M. A., Sholikhah, N., Kirwani, Hakim, L., Marlena, N., Widayati, I., Hapsari, A., Solichin, M. R., & Andriansyah, E. H. (2017). Reliability, responsiveness, assurance, empathy, and tangible: Still can satisfy the customer? *International Journal of Business and Management Invention*, 6(3), 68–75.
- Preikschas, M. W., Cabanelas, P., Rudiger, K., & Lampon, J. F. (2017). Value cocreation, dynamic capabilities and customer retention in industrial markets.

 Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 32(3), 409–420.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-10-2014-0215

http://www.ijbmi.org/papers/Vol(6)3/version-4/I0603046875.pdf

- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strength and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, *3*(9). 369–387. http://dx.doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.887089
- Radcliffe, D. (2018). Mobile in sub-Saharan Africa: Can world's fastest-growing mobile region keep it up? *ZDNet*. www.zdnet.com/article/mobile-in-sub-saharan-africa-can-worlds-fastest-growing-mobile-region-keep-it-up/
- Raghavan, K., Desai, M. S., & Rajkumar, P. V. (2017). Managing cybersecurity and e-commerce risks in small businesses. *Journal of Management Science and Business Intelligence*, 2(1), 9–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.581691
- Rahman, S. (2017). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in language "testing and assessment"

- research: A literature review. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 6(1), 102–112. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/jel.v6n1p102
- Rai, D., & Appiah, K. (2019). Online service failure and recovery strategy and customer retention. In *Harnessing omni-channel marketing strategies for fashion and luxury brands*, 225–242. Brown Walker Press.
- Ramamoorthy, R., Gunasekaran, A., Roy, M., Rai, B. K., & Senthilkumar, S. A. (2018).

 Service quality and its impact on customers' behavioral intentions and satisfaction: An empirical study of the Indian life insurance sector. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 29(7,8), 834–847.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2016.1240611
- Randhawa, P., Kim, M., & Cichy, R. F. (2017). Service innovations: What the managers believe and what the customers say. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 26(2), 186-206. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2016.1208598
- Rasoulian, S., Grégoire, Y., Legoux, R. B., & Sénécal, S. (2017). Service crisis recovery and firm performance: insights from information breach announcements. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 45(6), 789–806.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11747-017-0543-8
- Rehnen, L., Bartsch, S., Kull, M., & Meyer, A. (2017). Exploring the impact of rewarded social media engagement in loyalty programs. *Journal of Service Management*, 28(2), 305–328. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-10-2015-0338
- Rekettye, G., & Liu, J. (2018). *Pricing: The New Frontier*. Transnational Press Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative

- content analysist: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824–831. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Saleky, S. R. J., Wen, L. C., Payangan, O., Jusni, R., & Pono, M. (2018). Identification of customer loyalty determinants in service industry. *Journal of Business and Management Sciences*, 6(4), 171–178. http://dx.doi.org/10.12691/jbms-6-4-5
- Sarkhel, M. S., & Osman, S. (2020). Service quality perspectives in telecommunication sector: Trust and loyalty investigation. *Amazonia Investiga*, *9*(28), 394–403. http://dx.doi.org/10.34069/AI/2020.28.04.44
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H. & Jinks, C. (2017). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, *52*(4), 1893–1907. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Schlagwein, D., & Hu, M. (2017). How and why organisations use social media: Five use types and their relation to absorptive capacity. *Journal of Information*Technology, 32(2), 194–209. http://dx.doi.org/10.1057/jit.2016.7
- Schober, M. F. (2018). The future of face-to-face interviewing. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 26(2), 290–302. https://doi.org/10.1108/QAE-06-2017-0033
- Schoonenboom, J., & Johnson, R. B. (2017). How to construct a mixed methods research design. *KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie 69*(2), 107–131. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11577-017-0454-1
- Setiawan, H & Sayuti, A. J. (2017). Effects of service quality, customer trust and corporate Image on customer satisfaction and loyalty: An assessment of travel

- agencies customer in South Sumatra Indonesia. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management (IOSR-JBM)*, 19(5), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-1905033140
- Shadkam, M. (2017). Consumer's attitude to receive and response to SMS advertising.

 *International Journal of Business Information Systems (IJBIS), 24(1), 69–90.

 https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBIS.2017.080946
- Sharma, J. K., & Kumar, N. (2019). Service quality satisfaction and behavioral intention:

 Mediation and interaction analysis in electronic food ordering services. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 23(3), 1–15.

 https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Service-quality-satisfaction-and-behavioural-intention-mediation-and-interaction-analysis-in-electronic-food-ordering-services-1528-2678-23-3-213.pdf
- Shorten, A. & Smith, J. (2017). Mixed methods research: expanding the evidence base. BMJ Journal, 20(3). http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102699
- Siddiqui, D. A., & Sahar, N. (2019). The impact of training & development and communication on employee engagement-A study of banking sector. *Business Management and Strategy*, 10(1), 23–40.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.5296/bms.v10i1.14592
- Silalahi, J. M., Alfansi, L., & Wiardi, A. H. (2017). The role of brand trust in determining the relationship between brand affection and loyalty programs on customer loyalty. *AFEBI Management and Business Review*, *I*(1), 12–28.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.47312/ambr.v1i01.27

- Singh, K. A. (2019). Variations in customer loyalty: Study of different mobile service providers. *International Journal of Management Studies*, 2(1), 2231–2528. http://dx.doi.org/10.18843/ijms/v6i2(1)/11
- Sing, S., & Estefan, A. (2018). Selecting a grounded theory approach for nursing research. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 5, 1–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2333393618799571
- Smith, T. A. (2020). The role of customer personality in satisfaction, attitude-to-brand and loyalty in mobile services. *Spanish Journal of Marketing*, 24(2), 155–175. https://doi.org/10.1108/SJME-06-2019-0036
- Smith, J., & Jones, J. (2017). Ethnography: Challenges and opportunities. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 20(4), 98–100. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102786
- Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2018). Developing rigor in qualitative research:

 Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11(1), 101–121.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1750984X.2017.1317357
- Solmaz, D., Gunduz, O., Akar, S., Can, G., Birlik, M., Akkoc, Y., Gerdan, V., Onen, F., & Akkoc, N. (2017). Telephone interview strategy can be used for screening inflammatory back pain in the community. *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases*, 20(1), 33–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185x.12587
- Spradley, J. P. (2016). *The ethnographic interview*. Waveland Press.
- Srivastava, M., & Rai, A. K. (2018). Mechanics of engendering customer loyalty: A conceptual framework. *IIMB management review*, 30(3), 207–218.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2018.05.002

- Switala, M., Cichosz, M., & Trzesiok, J. (2019). How to achieve customer satisfaction?

 Perspective of logistics outsourcing performance. *LogForum*, 1(31), 39–51.

 https://doi.org/10.17270/j.log.2019.316
- Sy, M., O'Leary, N., Nagraj, S., El-Awaisi, A., O'Carroll, V., & Xyrichis, A. (2020).

 Doing interprofessional research in the COVID-19 era: A discussion paper. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 34(5), 600–606.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2020.1791808
- Taherdoost, H. (2016). Validity and reliability of the research instrument; how to test the validation of a questionnaire/survey in a research. *International Journal of Acad*emic *Research in Management (IJARM)*, 5(3), 28–36.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3205040
- Tandon, U., Kiran, R., & Sah, A. (2017). Analyzing customer satisfaction: Users perspective towards online shopping. *Nankai Business Review International*, 8(3), 266–288. https://doi.org/10.1108/NBRI-04-2016-0012
- Tao, K., & Edmunds, P. (2018). Mobile APPs and global markets. *Theoretical Economics Letters*, 8(8). https://doi.org/10.4236/tel.2018.88097
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing (GORNA)*, 7(3). http://dx.doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 14*, 23–41.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435

- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Tran, V. C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models in ecological research. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 82, 71–78.
 - http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001
- Trihatmoko, A. R., & Purnamasari, I. D. (2019). New product pricing strategy and product performance assessment in fast moving consumer goods. *International Journal of Economics and Business Administration*, VII(4), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.35808/ijeba/354
- Trihatmoko, R. A., Mulyani, R., & Lukviarman, N. (2018). Product placement strategy in the business market competition: Studies of fast moving consumer goods.

 **Business and Management Horizons*, 6(1), 150–161.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.5296/bmh.v6i1.13239
- Tsarenko, Y., Strizhakova, Y., & Otnes, C. C. (2019). Reclaiming the future: understanding customer forgiveness of service transgressions. *Journal of Service Research*, 22(2), 139–155. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670518802060
- Uner, M. M., Guven, F., & Cavusgil, S. T. (2020). Churn and loyalty behavior of Turkish digital natives: Empirical insights and managerial implications.
 Telecommunications Policy, 44(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2019.101901
- United Nations. (2018.). *Country Program Document for Senegal (2019–2023)*. Second regular session 2018. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1636226
- Upendar, M., & Kumar, K. S. V. K. (2019). Customer relationship management.

- Complexity International Journal (CIJ), 23(3), 147–154. http://cij.org.in/pdf/CIJ-23-03-0014.pdf
- Van Vaerenbergh, Y. V., Varga, D., De Keyser, A., & Orsingher, C. (2019). The service recovery journey: Conceptualization, integration, and directions for future research. *Journal of Service Research* 22(2), 103–119.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1094670518819852
- Van Vaerenbergh, Y., Hazée, S., & Costers, A. (2018). Customer participation in service recovery: A meta-analysis. *Marketing Letters*, 29, 465–483.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11002-018-9470-9
- Varnali, K. (2019). Online behavioral advertising: An integrative review. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 27(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2019.1630664
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40–50.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Wa-Mbaleka, S. (2020). The Researcher as an instrument. In Costa A., Reis L., Moreira A. (eds) Computer Supported Qualitative Research. WCQR 2019. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 1068. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31787-4_3
- Wang, L., Luo, M., Huang, R., Zhu, Y., Chen, Z., & Chen, W. (2020). Practical experience in home care of nursing interns: A qualitative research. *Open Journal*

- of Nursing, 10(5), 526–533. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojn.2020.105036
- Weller, S. C., Vickers, B., Bernard, H. R., Blackburn, A. M., Borgatti, S., Gravlee, C. C., & Johnson, J. C. (2018). Open-ended interview questions and saturation. *PloS one*, 13(6), 1–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198606
- Whitehead, L., & Whitehead, D. (2020). Sampling data and data collection in qualitative research. In Nursing and midwifery research: Methods and appraisal for evidence-based practice (pp. 111–126). Essay, Elsevier.
- Willys, N. (2018). Customer satisfaction, switching costs and customer loyalty: An empirical study on the mobile telecommunication service. *American Journal of Industrial and Business Management*, 8(4), 1022–1037.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2018.84070
- Winter, R. (2017). The idea of equality and qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23 (1), 27–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1077800416657102
- Yahya, S. F. H., Hashim, N. A., Bahsri, N., Daharu, N. A. (2019). The effect of sales promotion strategy on online fashion shopping behavior among employee of Sahawan Sdn Bhd. *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal*, 11(2).
 - http://www.gbmrjournal.com/pdf/vol.%2011%20no.%202/V11N2_2019.pdf
- Yaman, Z. (2018). The effect of word-of-mouth marketing on the purchase behavior via brand image and perceived quality. *Montenegrin Journal of Economics*, 14(2), 175–182. https://doi.org/10.14254/1800-5845/2018.14-2.12
- Yaqub, R. M. S., & Halim, F. (2018). Revisiting customer loyalty in telecom sector:

- Insights from Oliver four-stage loyalty model, EDM and principles of reciprocity. *Journal of Marketing Management and Consumer Behavior*, 2(2), 16–30.

 https://journal-of-marketing-management-and-consumer-behavior.com/index.php/JMMCB/article/view/72
- Yaqub, R. M. S., & Halim, F. (2017). Conceptualizations and measurement issues in customer loyalty: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Marketing Management and Consumer Research*, 40, 19–25.

 https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JMCR/article/view/39920/41095
- Yaqub, R. M. S., Halim, F. & Shehzad, A. (2019). Effect of service quality, price fairness, justice with service recovery and relational bonds on customer loyalty:

 Mediating role of customer satisfaction. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, *13*(1), 62–94. http://jespk.net/paper.php?paperid=4328
- Yeboah-Asiamah, E., Narteh, B., & Mahmoud, M. A. (2018). Preventing customer churn in the mobile telecommunication industry: Is mobile money usage the missing link? *Journal of African Business*, 19(2), 174–194.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15228916.2018.1440462
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Yin, R. (2017). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Young, H. R., Glerum, D. R., Wang, W., & Joseph, D. L. (2018). Who are the most engaged at work? A meta-analysis of personality and employee engagement.

Journal of Organizational Behavior, 39(10), 1330–1346. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/job.2303

- Yu, H, M Bai, G., & Wu, L. (2018). Application of perception theory in hotel interior design. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 8(7), 285–295.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ojapps.2018.87021
- Zhan, J., & Chiang, W. K. (2018). Durable goods pricing with reference price effects.

 Omega Elsevier, 91(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2018.12.007
- Zopiatis, A., Theocharous, A. L., Constanti, P., & Tjiapouras, L. (2017). Quality, satisfaction and customers' future intention: The case if hotels' fitness centers in Cyprus. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 18, 1–24. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1528008x.2015.1133366

Appendix: Case Study Protocol

- 1. Introduce myself to the participant(s).
- 2. Turn on the audio recording device.
- 3. Follow the procedure to introduce participant(s) with a pseudonym and coded identification; note the date and time.
- 4. Begin interview with question number 1; follow through the final question.
- 5. Follow up with additional questions and collect company documents (if any).
- 6. End interview sequence; discuss member checking with the participant(s).
- 7. Thank the participant(s) for taking part in the study.
- 8. Reiterate contact numbers for follow up questions and concerns from participants.